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ABOUT CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL REIT

FAREBERXRETES

REIT PROFILE
China Merchants Commercial REIT

China Merchants Commercial Real Estate
Investment Trust (“China Merchants Commercial
REIT” or “CMC REIT”) is a real estate investment
trust constituted by the trust deed (the “Trust
Deed”) entered into between China Merchants
Land Asset Management Co., Limited, the manager
of China Merchants Commercial REIT (the “REIT
Manager”), and DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited,
the trustee of China Merchants Commercial REIT
(the “Trustee”), on 15 November 2019. The
units of China Merchants Commercial REIT (the
“Units”, and each a “Unit”) were listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 10 December 2019 (the “Listing
Date”).

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co.,
Limited

The REIT Manager was incorporated in Hong Kong
on 22 June 2019, with a sole purpose of managing
the assets of China Merchants Commercial REIT.
The REIT Manager is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Merchants Land Limited (stock
code: 00978).

OUR MISSION

CMC REIT’s key objectives are to provide investors
with stable and sustainable distributions and to
achieve long term capital growth. This aim of
providing attractive total returns will be achieved by
proactive management of the properties in the CMC
REIT’s portfolio.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MHERE

Results for the period from A2020F1B81BZE
1 January 2020 to 30 June 2020 202046 A 30 H HifH RMB’000
(“Reporting Period”) (MREME D HEER ARETT
Revenue g 2% 177,906
Net property income LGy 138,703
NPI Margin ERYE LGS 78.0%
Profit after tax Rt 1% 5 T 45,621
Distributable income A IREA 81,932
Payout ratio kB 100%
Distribution per unit (DPU) BESBEMHIK HK$0.0809
0.08097& T
Net assets per unit attributable to FESEMNMEMFE ARG RMB3.33
Unitholders BERE AR#3.337T

30 June | 31 December
2020 2019
2020 20194 Difference

6A30H 12318 Z8
RMB’million RMB’million

ARBEEL | ARBAST

Total assets BEE 7,656 8,078 -5.2%
Net assets attributable to e BfFE ARG

Unitholders BESE 3,751 3,787 -1.0%
Debt to total asset value BEHBEEEE 26.8% 23.4% 3.4%

BRERAERTES | FHEE 2020 3



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERERAED N

The revenue and occupancy rate of the five
properties under China Merchants Commercial
REIT was impacted by the novel coronavirus
pneumonia (the “COVID-19”) pandemic, and
decreased slightly during the Reporting Period.
Total revenue of China Merchants Commercial
REIT for the Reporting Period was approximately
RMB177,906,000, a fall of approximately
RMB12,831,000 from the revenue from the
same period in 2019. As rent concessions were
provided to several tenants, total rental income for
China Merchants Commercial REIT weakened to
approximately RMB151,204,000 as compared to
approximately RMB160,341,000, the rental income
from the same period in 2019.

The property operating expenses of China
Merchants Commercial REIT for the Reporting
Period were approximately RMB39,203,000.
Property management expenses was approximately
RMB21,656,000, which contributed to 55.2% of the
property operating expenses; operations manager’s
fee and other taxes contributed to 18.9% and
20.5% of the property operating expenses
respectively. After deducting property operating
expenses, net property income was approximately
RMB138,703,000 for the Reporting Period.

China Merchants Commercial REIT recorded
Distributable Income of approximately
RMB81,932,000 for the six months ended 30 June
2020. The REIT Manager intends to distribute to
the unitholders of China Merchants Commercial
REIT (the “Unitholders”) 100% of the Distributable
Income. The distribution to Unitholders for the
Reporting Period will be HK$0.0809 per unit
(equivalent to approximately RMB0.0726 per unit),
which represents an annualised distribution yield of
5.9%, based on the closing price of the Units on 30
June 2020 (being HK$2.77).

AERREEAELE NRBEYEN
Yo g B AR R 2 B IR R B B
(B )RBELE YRS
HREM TR - BRRRERETES
RREHEBORSLBRO/ARYE
177,906,0007T * #20194 [7 EA#) UL
=K AR ¥ 12,831,0007T © B
RAZLZEAFPRAEESESE - MR
BREEXFTEENESRARE
BEH2019F AHNESWMANARYE
160,341,000 TR LR D EH AR
151,204,0007T °

BaRBERTESRRE BRENY
¥LERET A AR39,203,000
Lo MEBTERMINDABARE
21,656,0007C ' (h ¥ EKEH W
552%  REBBABAREME
B RMEMELERZ/18.9% Kk
205% - MBI ELERATE - W)
EHRNMERSFBEBOHAEARE
138,703,0007T ©

EHE2020F6 A30R It N A ©
ARRAERAESHBHOARE
81,932,000t AJ DRI A © BT
EBAENEEREERTESN
EeBNHAATESEMNEEAD
7k 100% A] 5 R YZA o 3] 25 HAfE
MESEMNFEAELODREAT
A& BEM0.0809B L (HERNEES
BRAHARKE0.07267T) © 1R20204F
6A30RE S BN WM E2. 778 LA
& FDRKEEE5.9% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | EEBE S RED T

Together with the committed DPU from Listing
Date to 31 December 2019 of HK$0.0142 per
Unit, the DPU for the period from Listing Date
to 30 June 2020 is HK$0.0951 per Unit, and
the total distribution amount is approximately
HK$107,256,000.

Index Inclusion Signifies a Key Milestone

China Merchants Commercial REIT has been
included in the MSCI China Small Cap Index,
effective as of market close on 29 May 2020.
This marks an important milestone to raise China
Merchants Commercial REIT’s profile in the global
capital markets and to enhance the trading liquidity.

Market Review

2020 will undoubtedly be a challenging year. The
COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted
the economic growth of both the world and China.
However, with the implementation of the Chinese
government’s strong anti-pandemic measures,
economic order has been gradually restored in
China, and supportive macroeconomic policies
by the government at all levels has restored
confidence in the real estate market. The strength
of China’s economic recovery can be seen from
the fact that China’s gross domestic product (GDP)
grew by 3.2% in the second quarter, after a 6.8%
contraction in the first quarter of 2020.

HER ETHEE2019F12A31H
MNBESBENUD RE#RTESEN
0.0142/%7T * LM HEIZ=2020%6 A
SEHMEBESBUNKRABESE
f70.09051 8L - MBDRESBH A
107,256,000/ 7T °

BAANEBRBZEENERR

BRREMEETESEERAMSC
o BN IR AR BB D IR - 7R 20204F5
H2oB AR - WEFERER
BERETESRSENREMREATIS
THERTE - FREEXZ RSN
MEZR R -

5 e

2020 F ZEE R 2 T m kB A —
F o SR A IB 1At R R
BERBERTEENTE -BR K
ERBBATEE N8RS S AT
i - PBEEEE TR BRI D &R TR
18 SEBNNZEEELERED
BEWEMSIAT —BIELL - &
E20200F AL ELEBEE —FTEW
H6.8% BRF-_FTEBERNLEHL
HIER3.2% @ AJARDEHTEL
EE AR S)EAEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | €2 E 51RO #T

Property Overview

China Merchants Commercial REIT’s portfolio
comprises the following five properties
(“Properties”) in Shekou, Shenzhen, all of which
are (i) well-served by public transportation network
and (i) equipped with car parking spaces:

New Times Plaza, a Grade A office building
with an aggregate Gross Floor Area (“GFA”) of
87,337 sg.m. located adjacent to the Sea World
commercial area and Prince Bay, the heart of
Shekou;

Cyberport Building, Technology Building and
Technology Building 2, three office building
complexes repurposed from industrial use with an
aggregate GFA of 124,545 sq.m. located in Shekou
Net Valley, a business hub for high-tech companies
and startups which has been earmarked by the
Nanshan Government for promoting and developing
emerging industries;

Garden City Shopping Centre, the first large-
scale comprehensive commercial complex
integrating shopping, dining, lifestyle and
entertainment facilities in Shekou. The complex has
an aggregate GFA of 50,496.9 sg.m..

MEBE
FHRREEEESREASHLR
IO ATIEME( DA
K- AEMEONVIAFERENARR
WA - R(NRAEEAL

FEARES R AROZE - it
A Bt R K FE R F R
By agmER((REEEE])
787,337 F 7K

HIEXRE  RNEAEERREXRE=
B —HRETERAEHIERARK
E o BEEmEEA124,545F F K ¢
B RAERLBFEEASEERAR
ROBIARZEERLNEAES
AR REMERNEES

EE  CRARONEEEEY £
B RE RIR SR HE R — BB R ALAR
AEEETF  HEEEMER50,496.9
FHK o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | EBE S HRD M

Particulars of the Properties

As at
30 June
2020

i
2020%
6A30H

New Times Plaza MERES 89.5%
Cyberport Building YERE 68.8%
Technology Building RNEAE 97.1%
Technology Building 2 RNEAEZ# 86.9%
Garden City Shopping Centre  7EE 73.1%
Total Property Portfolio MEREAS 83.2%

The occupancy rate of the overall properties
portfolio increased from 81.0% as at 30 June
2019 to 83.2% as at 30 June 2020, representing
an increase of 2.2 percentage points. Due to
approximately RMB15 million rent concession
provided to tenant, the rental income declined 5.7%
comparing the same period of last year.

As at 30 June 2020, revaluation of the Properties
was carried out by Cushman & Wakefield Limited,
an independent property valuer and CMC REIT’s
principal valuer, and the revalued market value was
approximately RMB6,609 million.

WEFE

Occupancy rate Gross

bl

rental

income ~ Valuation
Asat  during the as at Gross
30 June Reporting 30 June rentable
2019 Period 2020 area

i RERE  R2020%

2019F HEOfE  6A308HK

6A30H b fh{E
RMB'000  RMB million
ARE  ARBEER

74.5% 56,103 2,061 67,600.0
79.9% 16,116 1,039 40,441.3
85.5% 20,603 868 41,546.3
89.8% 17,448 1,082 43,093.5
79.6% 40,934 1,559 57,321.8
81.0% 161,204 6,609  250,002.9

BRMEHEEGHEHEEXRH2019F6 A
30H#981.0% £ FZ=2020%6 A30H
H83.2% * A A22(HE D ° M
REBEFREHNARB155E THE
SEE S BMAREFRBERD
5.7% °

R2020%6 A30H » WERBILY
XHEMBERTERAA(EARE
BREEEEESHETISHERM)#E
TERE  MEEGEMENAARE
6,609B & T °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | EBE S HRD M

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
Tenant’s Industry Profile

The following pie charts depict the industry profile
of our tenants by reference to their gross rental area
as a percentage of the total gross rental area as at
30 June 2020, and their percentage contribution to
monthly rental income in June 2020:

LIES

HAETERR

UTEFBEREEMITE K2

%H‘ﬁﬁiﬂ@ﬁﬁaﬁzozoim 30
AEfAHEAmMBESLUARER

Eaﬁﬂﬁzozoimﬁ REWABEN

BoOt

Percentage of Gross Rental Area (4 A/ HHEZATENES

H24l7 | Scientific and information technology 20.4%

Z=& Vacant 16.8%

Hfh  Others 9.4%

=p:] \ Petroleum 2.7 %

HEMPI ARG EE | Leasing and Business service 6.9%

f2FREEAE  Health Care Service 2.9% 2 | Real estate 10.6%
_“

2S£ T 72 | Construction and Engineering 2.4% ‘ ‘
%8 | Finance 3.5% ~.-'

Wi | Logistics 4.9%

%)& | Department store 4.8%

R 7EM | Food and Beverage 5.1%

HEERRAS | Life Service 4.5%

Percentage of Monthly Rental Income {§ B AW ANE S

Hth Others 9.3%

f#FEEE Health Care Service 1.5% RIS B854 | Scientific and information technology 19.1%

7 | Petroleum 4.2% "
F2ET 72 | Construction and Engineering 2.3% .

Y07 | Logistics 7.1% ‘

S | Finance 4.9%

£ 5% # | Food and Beverage 9.0%

A ERRR | Life Service 4.8% ~_‘,

Notes:

(1) The Tenants’ industry sector are based on the classification of
the REIT Manager.

(2) Manufacturing includes tenants who engage in the business of
manufacturing electronics and digital products. They use their
leased premises as office.

[ ithZE | Real estate 16.5%

(1) BPITEDNUEEERANDERESE -

(2 HEXOBERFETRIBEREERBH
P - REEREENEERRAE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | EBE S HRD M

Lease Expiry Profile of the Properties MENEE T MR

The following table sets out the tenant expires of T~ 2% & 51| ¥ % & 78 49 & i 05 73 ( BA(Y
the Properties shown as a percentage of their gross HAflE#mEEN A DL RIHEE
rental area and as a percentage of monthly rental  2020%6 At A& WA Z B H b5

income as of June 2020: )
Percentage of Gross Rental Area Percentage of Monthly Rental Income
HAHAEAEENES L HARSWANES L
50 50
40 40
30 30 29.0%

19.9%20.5%

20

Expiry Period

b

W Year ending 31 December 2020 Year ending 31 December 2023
HZE2020F 12 A1 A ILFE HZE2023F12A31HIEFE

[l Year ending 31 December 2021 [ Year ending 31 December 2024 and
HE2021F12A31BILFEE beyond

B VYear ending 31 December 2022 B E20205F12 A31 H ILFE K A%
HZE2022F12A31HILFE Vacant

=E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | €2 E 51RO #T

New Times Plaza

Affected by the ongoing pandemic and the
oversupply of new high-end office buildings in
Shenzhen, the office building market was faced
a number of adverse factors in the first half of
the year. Despite such unfavourable conditions,
the REIT Manager has managed to retain the
high quality tenants in the building by improving
the quality of the property, providing value-
added services and implementing flexible leasing
strategies. At 89.5%, the occupancy rate of the
property remains above the market average, and
the tenants’ satisfaction levels are also higher than
those at competing properties. In the second half of
the year, we will continue with our renovation and
asset enhancement initiative, improving the quality
and image of the property. These enhancements
will act as a solid foundation for further operational
efficiencies and hence add value to the asset.

Cyberport Building

The occupancy rate of the property is 68.8%.
While occupancy is lower due to the downturn of
the market and the pandemic, we are taking the
opportunity to reposition the property, and are
upgrading and renovating several vacant spaces.
Older fittings that are less likely to satisfy tenants’
expectations were replaced while large-area units
were subdivided into smaller units to cater to the
latest market demand, boosting unit rental price.
Furthermore, marketing, promotion and tenant
retention programs via multiple channels are being
carried out simultaneously, and we plan to rapidly
rent out our vacant spaces after the renovation is
completed.

FERES

RREHELFRYSHEFIEERER
ZHFE  FEFEFTEMBEER
ZAFEZR o EH 0L ERIE TSR
N EAEEARBMERERA
WA EREIEENHERE 18
TETEREERF - MELHEERA
89.5% ' NABMNRMHFEHE - BMA
FHRYERNREE LSRR TSR
Bam e THEF - BRMESEEEEN
EIR BAYVERERFER AT

—SRIEERRASELER - BRE
EHE -
BWARE

Y HTE % /568.8% © A HIHE
EMRIEFERROERERD - M
N HBMEEN HYWEANZE
BITETTHAMRBUE - HERERDETE
BRKEETHRARE - HHAE
BENER D ERETLATISE
MER - RABESEE - WENEH
HENRBEZILETERLSHE -
BPABGEEE AT R ER
RIEEA -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | BIB8 S5m0 17

Technology Building

In the first half of this year, the occupancy rate
of Technology Building remained at a high level
of 97.1%. Its rental levels remained stable and
were not affected by the pandemic. We have
implemented flexible measures aimed to avoid
tenant loss and to ensure that operation was not
affected, and at the same time improving our
relationship with tenants. Tenants whose operations
were seriously affected during the pandemic
were given the option to either switch to lower-
rent spaces or reduce their contracted lease area.
In addition, the REIT Manager will attempt to
proactively approach in advance and retain tenants
nearing the end of their leases. Meanwhile, in order
to shorten downtime, the REIT Manager will also
incentivize high-quality tenants to expand their
rental area.

Technology Building 2

Technology Building 2 maintained an occupancy
rate of 86.9% in the first half of the year. The REIT
Manager accomplished the renewal of more than
8,000 square meters, and secured nearly 2,000
square meters of new rentals to replace the 4,000
square meters of that was vacated in the first half
year in order to maintain the stable operation of the
property. In addition, the REIT manager is actively
exploring how the property can be enhanced overall
by improving the quality of facilities, the surrounding
environment and commercial ancillary support, and
expect the property to become a benchmark in
Shekou after market normality returns and the new
subway begins operating.

REARE

MEARE EFFHBEREFEIT A%
R - HEBERSRE - EEK
RAZRBHE -HRBHRBEH
FREeZBEEFENEF  BEAE
BEARRSIEEREEHESEENLA
HoEE T ABEERE - (e
%Eﬁﬁ%'%%%%W%TEQQ
B REAEPEE - U BFEE
AﬂnﬁLﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂﬁﬁﬁkm%
EoSIEBARERPEM  MEEE
BB -

BMEARE=H

REAE-—HE¥FREFT86.9%
MR B EFFRE40008
FHAMBRBER  TEATKT
8000 FHAMEN » WERE
2,000 F KM - BRUESIA

FIRER o WA FREBEARER
RMERATER - HERRE - A
RIEMPEREEITEEMRS  E1L

MERE  REHEDS TR RI0ER
BEREXREOM@AERANEFIA
B o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | &

Garden City Shopping Centre

During the pandemic, the number of shoppers
dropped down to 10% of normal, and the tenants
were under great pressure. In view of the situation
above, the REIT Manager strictly conducted anti-
pandemic measures to enhance the safety of
the shopping environment. Based on the varying
degrees of impact on retail businesses, we helped
to rebuild tenant’s confidence in the mall by taking
different measures. In the meanwhile, we executed
various promotion activities to attract customers
and improve the shopping atmosphere, and by the
end of June had managed to help footfall recover to
75% of before. By expanding online sales channels,
we reduced the revenue pressure on tenants. The
occupancy rate is 73.1% as at 30 June 2020. In the
second half of the year, the REIT Manager plans
to reposition the mall and thereafter carry out the
corresponding enhancement and renovations.

12

EREEVR

TEEH

BIEEE R REZSB TR EEEKE
H110% @ BRASZBEAKEERES -
ﬁﬁuiﬁﬁ’%%%ﬁAF%@ﬂ
BB RESRBYIRRR
HENEERBES %&FLH§
HER BrTERERLEEDL I
SN BRERAML S EENERE
ARSI BREIEAESAE - W
AR REXNNNREZBENTS%
K o BABEAAR LIHERE - RE
BPRKEER S - BHEER2020F6 A
308 A73.1% - TH¥FETEE A
BETHBENTISEA% - BTEEE
HUERE - EITARERGEIRTT o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | BIB8 S5m0 17

Future Strategies

The unexpected outbreak of the novel coronavirus
in the first half of 2020 has severely weakened the
economies of all countries and cast a shadow over
the process of globalization. Although the pandemic
has slowed down in some countries or regions
recently, it seems unlikely that the pandemic will
disappear completely worldwide in a short period,
and it will take a long time before the world fully
recovers. Still, governments around the world
are actively taking stimulus measures to support
their economies, including extremely low interest
rates. Future interest rates are expected to remain
extremely low for a long period. China has kept
the pandemic under control well through strong
decisive measures. Its economy has returned to
positive growth in the second quarter and will
become an important engine for global economic
growth in the second half of the year.

The REIT Manager of China Merchants Commercial
REIT has set for itself the concept of ‘stability as
priority’ and ‘seek for development from stability’,
and intends to gradually develop the REIT by
‘walking on two legs’. On one hand, despite
of a mildly decrease of revenue caused by the
pandemic, we have made good progress on
property enhancements and renovation, as well
as preparing a clear timetable which provides a
basis for further growth in the future. On the other
hand, we actively seek to acquire high-quality
properties, either through injection from the China
Merchant Group or externally. Furthermore, we are
considering to include other cities in our investment
region to improve and strengthen our ability to
generate steady income.

R B

2020 L F T Hi = /9 37 BT AR
RERBERE G ERTIEHEL
B EARHCERRLETEY - &
SRIT B 15 1 L B R sl [ 15 8 AT
& ERBEEHAERHREENT
LT A REM TR - 2 HREU
MENHEREMNER - @EWH - 2
Bk % B B AT 19 FE AR PR ER 5 TE RS e
TEEE - BIEBENFRKE o ff
BT R R A EKE B ER R E AR
TERRIRALETT o i B AE R & @i
RENBRICERENEIBIEHEIES
F o RE L EF SO EIRIE T IR
£ B BRIRE T EFE2 B EE
EHEEZ|ZE -

FHARBEERESZEAEREAR
A IRBFERIR[RBPRERIE
2 PR ER | RE I REFE
A2V  —HTEEAREEIRE
ERTERE - RPN ERGE AT E
BMBTRIEFNWER - BT EEWME
R AARRNEE - FHEEEHRT
it - m—hmE - RPVEBRERR
SEAF LI B RFNEEEE -
VAR R ok B P EE AR AR R A D BE
o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | &

Future Strategies (Continued)

In the second half year of 2020 and the following
2 to 3 years, the uncertainty of the pandemic’s
abatement, rising geopolitical tensions and the
prevalence of the trade protectionism will have
a continuous negative impact on the global
economy. Fortunately, the properties of China
Merchants Commercial REIT are located in the
Greater Bay Area. With its stable political and
economic environment, it remains great potential
for sustainable development, providing stability
for our income. The low interest rate and external
uncertainty in the future is a good opportunity for
acquisition and development. The REIT Manager
is still optimistic about the CMC REIT’s medium to
long-term growth prospects and will make use of
the resource advantages of the China Merchant
Group, low financing costs and professional
property and investment management to fully
capitalize on all kinds of growth opportunities.

14

EREEVR

RPFBE ()

2020F TH¥FRARKHNM=F + &
EHEM T WEBARRS

BBZENESRETHENRITEY
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | BIB8 S5m0 17

Prevention of Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted
the world in 2020. With the implementation of
the Chinese government’s strong anti-pandemic
measures, the economy has been gradually
restored in China. During the pandemic period,
the REIT Manager strictly followed the hygiene
requirements and instructions of the government.
We registered each entering person and required
them to wear masks and measured their
temperature. Meanwhile, we regularly carried
out disinfection and cleaning of the buildings
and facilities and stockpiled the anti-pandemic
materials. The anti-pandemic measures achieved
remarkable results and we managed to maintain
‘0’ infection cases. At present, most of tenants
have returned to normal operation, and Garden
City Shopping Centre has resumed the number
of shoppers back to 75% as normal. The REIT
Manager provided approximately RMB15 million in
rent concession to tenants and maintained a good
relationship with tenants by flexibly adjusted leasing
strategies and providing anti-pandemic materials
to tenants in need. At the same time, we regularly
maintained the facilities and equipment, adjusted
the structure of some units, so as to prepare for the
rebound of economic activity after the pandemic
In the second half of the year, depending on
the pandemic situation, the REIT Manager may
provide further rental concessions to tenants of
retail properties to overcome these difficult times
together.
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Renovation and Enhancement of Five Properties

Since taking the responsibility of management, the
REIT Manager has been actively exploring ways
to enhance the competitiveness of the properties
while keeping the characters and vitality of the
properties. Our properties enhancement initiative
will be start with New Times Plaza in the second half
of the year. To enhance the ‘look and feel’ of the
property to tenants, the lobby, public areas of the
standard floor, toilets, furnishing, lighting system,
signhage and intelligence system will be the focus of
renovation. For Technology Building, Technology
Building 2 and Cyberport Building, we will renovate
the reception area, elevator lobby and corridors
in the fourth quarter. We will customize “small
and beautiful” spaces for start-ups and small and
medium-sized enterprises by adjusting the layout of
shared functional areas, to realize “move-in without
preparation”, so as to increase the rentable area,
rent per sg.m. and increase rental income. Garden
City Shopping Centre is scheduled to complete
the business re-position within this year, and begin
renovation in 2021. Normal operations will be
maintained during the construction period. We will
relocate the elevators, air conditioning and other
equipment so as to increase the overall rentable
area. By adjusting the tenant mix to cater to both
young and old, and improving lighting, decorations,
and intelligent systems, we aim to build Garden
City Shopping Centre into a commercial complex
for the entire community to increase the shopping
experience of consumers. Meanwhile, we will take
advantage of the new subway line to improve the
mall’s market positioning and profit. Apart from
that, taking the feedbacks of consumers into
consideration, we will improve our property services
in order to boost consumer satisfaction.

TRV ENEE R E

BAEEENETNER  BEEEA
—HEBEREAVENRT N - I
ENREMES B FONLERE -
EHEMEBTUEBESF TN EFHR
FEHRESRIGES  TEMEHE
BRE EEBzALZED - XF
M RERH  BIARS - IZHZH
AR B RE - UIRARP EER
SZREBR - BRIEAE  BERKE=
BEREBAENS BB EEHE
EEFNREEFRE « FRERERE
BREAEEE - HAFRBBRAES
A= @BREZEFXAEDAE -
NIRRT [/NmE =
M BRABAR] BATHEER
BRAESEE  BNESRA - 0
TR B AFANEXEEETEN
3 - 2021 FRBEF - EITHRA
FIBIEFEEE - BB EEFREE -
THREWERE - EFREEE M
AIEEE WEBBRENL M
B B B BaHbE A
BEERIEA A ELERTEMN - 12
FHEEENEYER - RERMEF
AR RES  RetERmEE
7+ 2ERADERE - Rtz
VMERBtLESREBPNEEBERE
HITHE  ReEFPREE -

16 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL RIET | INTERIM REPORT 2020



Distribution

Pursuant to the DPU Commitment (as defined in the
offering circular of China Merchants Commercial
REIT dated 28 November 2019 (the “Offering
Circular”)), Eureka Investment Company Limited
(“Eureka”), being the holding company of the
Vendor (as defined in the Offering Circular), has
undertaken to make a cash payment to the Trustee
(in its capacity as trustee of China Merchants
Commercial REIT) for the benefit of China
Merchants Commercial REIT if the Annualised
Provisional DPU (as defined in the Offering Circular)
is less than the Annualised Committed DPU for
the Relevant Period (as defined in the Offering
Circular), so that in such circumstances the
annualised distribution per Unit of China Merchants
Commercial REIT for the Relevant Period shall
be equal to the Annualised Committed DPU. The
Annualised Committed DPU for the period from
Listing Date to 31 December 2019 and 12 months
ending 31 December 2020 is HK$0.2360 per Unit,
respectively.

The distribution for the period from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2019 and the interim distribution
for the six months ending 30 June 2020 (collectively
as “First Distribution”) will be paid together to
entities regarded as Unitholders as at the record
date (as described in detail under the heading of
“Record date for distribution entitlement”). As
such, those who are not regarded as Unitholders on
the record date have no entitlement to receive any
distributions for the First Distribution. Distribution
payable to Unitholders is paid in Hong Kong dollar.
The exchange rate of the DPU for the Reporting
Period was the average central party rate as
announced by the People’s Bank of China for the
five business days preceding the date of this report.
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Record Date for Distribution Entitlement

For the purpose of determining the distribution
entitlement for the First Distribution, the register
of holders of the CMC REIT will be closed from
2 September 2020 to 4 September 2020, both
days inclusive, and the record date will be on 4
September 2020. In order to qualify for the First
Distribution, all unit certificates with completed
transfer forms must be lodged with the unit
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 1 September
2020. The payment of First Distribution will be made
to Unitholders on 25 September 2020.
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Capital Structure

As at 30 June 2020, the total asset value of China
Merchants Commercial REIT was RMB7,656
million, which includes RMB994 million of cash.
Such cash includes RMB637 million which has
been earmarked to repay the Unassigned Frontier
Payables (as defined in the Offering Circular) and
has been repaid in July 2020.

The gearing ratio of China Merchants Commercial
REIT (representing a ratio of total net borrowings of
RMB2,049 million to total asset value of RMB7,656
million) was approximately 26.8%, which is lower
than the permitted limit of 45% as required by the
Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT
Code”). The total net borrowings of RMB2,049
million represent 29.2% of the total gross asset
value if the Unassigned Frontier Payables and the
cash earmarked to repay the Unassigned Frontier
Payables are disregarded.

Pursuant to the onshore facility agreement and
offshore facility agreement entered into between the
banks and the PRC Property Companies (as defined
in the Offering Circular) in November 2019, China
Merchants Commercial REIT has obtained onshore
loan facility and offshore loan facility of RMB100
million and RMB2,400 million, respectively. As at 30
June 2020, China Merchants Commercial REIT has
drawn down an amount of RMB2,061 million from
the abovementioned loan facility, which is secured
and will mature by the end of 2022. The secured
term loans bears interest at a fixed rate of 2.75% -
4.5% per annum.

Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders

As at 30 June 2020, net assets attributable to
Unitholders amounted to RMB3,751 million or
RMBS3.33 per Unit.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXELHS

With the objectives of establishing and maintaining
high standards of corporate governance, policies
and procedures have been put in place to promote
the operation of China Merchants Commercial REIT
in a transparent manner and with built-in checks
and balances. The REIT Manager has adopted
a Compliance Manual which sets out corporate
governance policies as well as the responsibilities
and functions of each key officer. The Compliance
Manual also clearly defines reporting channels,
workflows, and specifies procedures and forms
designed to facilitate the compliance of the REIT
Manager with various provisions of the Trust Deed,
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the Code on
Real Estate Investment Trusts and other relevant
rules and regulations.

During the period under review, the REIT Manager
has in material terms complied with the provisions
of the Compliance Manual. The corporate
governance policies of CMC REIT have been
adopted having due regard to the requirements
under Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, with necessary changes as if
those rules were applicable to REITs.
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AUTHORISATION STRUCTURE

China Merchants Commercial REIT is a collective
investment scheme authorised by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“the SFC”)
under section 104 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“the SFO”) and regulated by certain laws,
regulations and documents including the Code
on Real Estate Investment Trusts (“REIT Code”).
The REIT Manager has been authorised by the
SFC under section 116 of the SFO to conduct the
regulated activity of asset management. The REIT
Manager has three persons who are approved as
Responsible Officers pursuant to the requirements
of the SFO and the REIT Code. They are Mr. Guo
Jin, the Executive Director of the REIT Manager, Mr.
Choo Chong Yao, Patrick and Mr. Zhong Ning.

The Trustee is registered as a trust company under
section 77 of the Trustee Ordinance. The Trustee is
qualified to act as a trustee for collective investment
schemes authorized under the SFO pursuant to the
REIT Code.

ROLES OF THE TRUSTEE AND REIT
MANAGER

The Trustee and the REIT Manager are independent
of each other.

The Trustee is responsible under the Trust Deed
for the safe custody of the assets of CMC REIT
on behalf of Unitholders and for overseeing the
activities of the REIT Manager for compliance
with the relevant constitutive documents of, and
applicable regulatory requirements applicable to
China Merchants Commercial REIT.
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ROLES OF THE TRUSTEE AND REIT
MANAGER (CONTINUED)

The REIT Manager’s role under the Trust Deed is
to manage CMC REIT and its assets in accordance
with the Trust Deed, and in particular to ensure that
the financial and economic aspects of CMC REIT’s
assets are professionally managed in the sole
interests of the Unitholders. In accordance with the
REIT Code, the REIT Manager is required to act in
the best interests of Unitholders, to whom it owes a
fiduciary duty.

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD

As at 30 June 2020, the Board (“the Board”) of
Directors of the REIT Manager comprises seven
members, three of whom are independent non-
executive directors. The Board oversees the
management of the REIT Manager’s affairs and
the conduct of its business and is responsible for
the overall governance of the REIT Manager. The
Board exercises its general powers within the limits
defined by its constitutional documents, with a view
to ensuring that management discharges its duties
and is compensated appropriately, and that sound
internal control policies and risk management
systems are maintained. The Board will also review
major financial decisions and the performance of
the REIT Manager.

CHANGES IN THE DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION

As at 30 June 2020, Ms. LIU Ning has been
appointed as a director of China Merchants
Property Operation & Service Co., Ltd* (fBE B
EXELREKMHERAT), a listed company on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

All conflicts of interest shall be managed by the
Board in accordance with the articles of association
of the REIT Manager and applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The REIT Manager shall ensure that all
conflicts of interest relating to CMC REIT shall be
managed and avoided. The following measures are
taken in this regard:

e the REIT Manager will be a dedicated manager
to China Merchants Commercial REIT and,
unless with the approval of the SFC, the REIT
Manager will not manage any REIT other than
China Merchants Commercial REIT nor manage
other real estate assets other than those in
which CMC REIT has an ownership interest or
investment;

e the REIT Manager will ensure that it will be able
to function independently from its shareholders
and all senior executives and officers will be
employed by the REIT Manager or the Onshore
Manager Subsidiary on a full time basis and
solely be dedicated to the operations of CMC
REIT;

e the REIT Manager has established procedures
to deal with conflicts of interest under its
compliance manual;
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST (CONTINUED)

the REIT Manager has established internal
control systems to ensure that connected
party transactions between China Merchants
Commercial REIT and its connected persons
are monitored and undertaken according to
procedures and/or on terms in compliance
with the REIT Code (or where applicable, in
compliance with the waiver conditions imposed
by the SFC) and that other potential conflicts of
interest that may arise are monitored;

all conflicts of interest involving a Significant
Unitholder or a director, or a connected person
through such entities, will be managed by a
physical Board meeting rather than through
a written resolution and all independent non-
executive directors who, and whose associates,
have no material interest in the matter should be
present at such Board meeting; and

a director who has material interests in a matter
which is the subject of a resolution proposed
at a Board meeting of the REIT Manager
shall abstain from voting on the resolution
concerned.

The REIT Manager has established an internal
control system intended to ensure that connected
party transactions between China Merchants
Commercial REIT and its connected persons
are monitored and are undertaken on terms in
compliance with the REIT Code. All connected party
transactions must be:

24

carried out at arm’s length, on normal
commercial terms and in an open and
transparent manner;

F=EE )

FREEBARE NEEHIFE
NERAEREESEESEE
MEATETHREALRZR
NEBEMWEREERESTAN
BER/ REFX(RFABES
BNy E S R (nE A ) ) R B
ERIET AREMmAEHE
VEENRERITEER

BESRERECBMFERAR
BF EBRFTEBEBEA
ITHNEERERRSEESS
AMIFETEMAREAREE MBS
VHRRTEERHEBE AL ER
EHFERTHEAERNRLAL
FREESEE R

EXREREEAEZEEE
FREMNRBRSRNERTE

EAN#G  ARERBRARESR
BE-

FEREEEATRI NEBES ARG - #
EREARAESEESHEBEA
TRz BEALRSXIEE A
& BEHEREETESTRING
HETT - MEREALTRZHA :

BANFREEORBIA— ARG
FNBEAMEST

CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL RIET | INTERIM REPORT 2020



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT | R¥EARS

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST (CONTINUED)

e valued, in relation to a property transaction, by
an independent property valuer;

e consistent with CMC REIT’s investment
objectives and strategy;

e in the best interests of Unitholders;

e properly disclosed to Unitholders; and

e approved by the independent non-executive
directors of the REIT Manager (or a committee
thereof) and, where the prior approval of
Unitholders is required, the independent non-
executive directors of the REIT Manager (or a
committee thereof) shall confirm, in a letter set
out in the circular to Unitholders, whether the
terms and conditions of the transaction are
fair and reasonable and in the best interests
of Unitholders and whether Unitholders should
vote in favour of the resolution.

The REIT Manager must demonstrate to the
independent non-executive directors and the Audit
Committee that all connected party transactions
satisfy the foregoing criteria, which may entail
(where practicable) obtaining quotations from
independent third parties, or obtaining one or more
valuation letters from independent professional
valuers.
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST (CONTINUED)

Prior approval of Unitholders is required for
connected party transactions where the value of
the transaction is five percent or more of the latest
Net Asset Value of China Merchants Commercial
REIT, subject to any waivers granted by the SFC.
Save for the appointment or removal of the REIT
Manager, a Unitholder is prohibited from voting its
Units at, or being part of a quorum for, any meeting
of Unitholders convened to approve any matter
in which the Unitholder has a material interest in
the business to be conducted and that interest is
different from the interest of other Unitholders.

INTERESTS OF, AND DEALINGS IN
UNITS BY DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Manager has adopted a code governing
dealings in securities of CMC REIT by Directors (the
“Dealings Code”), the terms of which are no less
exacting than those set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules. The Dealings Code is also applicable
to the Manager. In addition, it is applicable to senior
executives, officers, employees of the Manager
or the directors of the special purpose vehicles of
CMC REIT as the Board may determine. Certain
restrictions and notification requirements as
provided under the Listing Rules are adopted with
modifications in the Dealings Code to apply to unit
buy-back by the Manager on behalf of CMC REIT.

Confirmation of Compliance with Dealing Code

Specific enquiry has been made of all directors and
all of them have confirmed that during the Reporting
Period they have complied with the Dealings
Code which are equivalent to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in this report and previous
disclosures (including announcements, circulars
and Offering Circular) issued by the REIT Manager,
there are no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significant subsisting during or at the
end of the Reporting Period in which a Director
or any entity connected with a Director is or was
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

The unaudited interim results of China Merchants
Commercial REIT for the Reporting Period have
been reviewed by the Disclosures Committee
and Audit Committee of the REIT Manager in
accordance with their respective terms of reference,
in conjunction with the external auditors of China
Merchants Commercial REIT.
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

HEALIRS

The REIT Code contains rules on connected party
transaction governing transactions between the
China Merchants Commercial REIT Group and its
connected persons (as defined in paragraph 8.1 of
the REIT Code). Such transactions will constitute
“connected party transactions” for the purposes of
the REIT Code.

In addition to “Significant Unitholders® (that is,
holders of 10% or more of the outstanding Units
within the meaning of the REIT Code), China
Merchants Commercial REIT’s “connected
persons® will include, among others:

(1) the controlling entities, holding companies,
subsidiaries and associated companies of the
“Significant Unitholders®, and associates of the
“Significant Unitholders* within the meaning of
the REIT Code;

(2) the REIT Manager as well as controlling entities,
holding companies, subsidiaries and associated
companies of the REIT Manager within the
meaning of the REIT Code;

(3) the Trustee as well as controlling entities,
holding companies, subsidiaries and associated
companies of the Trustee within the meaning
of the REIT Code. As a result, the list of
“connected persons“ of China Merchants
Commercial REIT shall include Deutsche Bank
AG (which indirectly wholly owns the Trustee)
and other members of the DB Group; and

(4) the directors, senior executives and officers
of the REIT Manager and Trustee, and their
respective associates within the meaning of the
REIT Code.
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FEEESFAD

(2 FREEARETEEANER
B ERAF - WE AR K
BRA(EERBEHEREES
EE TR

B) REARRFEANZERER =
BRAE - MEBARREBERR
(EEAFEHERERFFTEST
a) - Bt - HEREEFEE
T HEEALT IRERBREER
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION
WITH SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS
GROUP

The following sets out information on connected TX&EHitFLIBEEHNEETES R
party transactions between China Merchants EHEEBEA+T(EEREHEREEFT
Commercial REIT and its connected persons (as H&FAIESAR)NBEEATRTFHE
defined in paragraph 8.1 of the REIT Code): * o

REXRESENUFAAKED
BEALRS

BEALRS WA

Connected Party Transaction - Income

Relationship with Nature of
China Merchants connected Income for the
Name of connected party Commercial REIT transactions Reporting Period
EREREEET REHE
BEATARE sl 71ES i B B A
(RMB'000)
(AR®ETT)
China Merchant International Information  Associated company Rental income 979
Technology Co., Ltd of CMSK
REREREERMBRAR AR ONEE AT THE WA
China Merchants Investment Associated company Rental income 3,696

Development Co. LTD

of CMSK

BRARREERBERLA AR ONEEAT GIETION
Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Subsidiary of CMSK Rental income 15
Estate Management Co., Ltd

RIEEDEERERAR Eic]aml:o )N THE WA

China Merchant Bank Co., Ltd Associated company Rental income 2,426
of CMSK

BERTRHBRAR bl Akl NG| HeHA

Shekou TV Associated company Rental income 54
of CMSK

wAERA AR OMNEEAT GIETION

China Merchants Energy Associated company Rental income 3,141

Shipping Co., Ltd
BARERERRNBRAR

of CMSK
REEONBEARF

AEBA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION
WITH SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS

GROUP (CONTINUED)

Connected Party Transaction - Income

(Continued)

Name of connected party

BEALAH

China Merchants Shekou Industrial
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd
BRARENIERERROHERAR

Sinotrans Shipping Limited
FINEMRBR AT

China Merchants Real Estate
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
A BEEHEERAT

China Merchants Life Insurance
Company Limited
BEBCMAZSRBRDBRAR

China Merchants Commercial Property
Investment (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd
RIEERHEREERAR
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied
Gas Shipping Co., Ltd.
RINEBERICRMBERAF
China Merchant Bank Co., Ltd

RBRTRNERLA

Relationship with
China Merchants
Commercial REIT
B RRERT

Holding company of a

Significant Unitholder

BEAEGEN
REANZELF

Associated company
of CMSK
Rt OB E A T
Subsidiary of CMSK
REROMIEAR
Associated company
of CMSK
bkl YN
Subsidiary of CMSK
BEROORBAF
Associated company
of CMSK
AEROMEELR
Associated company

of CMSK
AREONBELF

HEAESENEEASEEY
BEALRSE)

BEALRE - WA

Nature of
connected Income for the
transactions Reporting Period
R
HERSMHE GOl ON
(RMB'000)
(ARBFT)
Rental income 2,415
HeRA
Rental income 3,615
HEKBA
Rental income 15,609
KON
Rental income 776
e A
Rental income 5,850
HEKBA
Rental income 245
WA
Interest income 4,441

MEKA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION
WITH SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS
GROUP (CONTINUED)

Connected Party Transaction - Income

HEAESENEEASEEY
BEALRSE)

BEALRE - WA

(Continued)

Name of connected party

BEALRHE

Relationship with
China Merchants
Commercial REIT

HREREERET

& H)

3

Nature of
connected
transactions

Income for the
Reporting Period
ek B
EA
(RMB'000)
(AR¥F)

Shekou TV Associated company Building management 10
of CMSK fee income
wOBRA Bt OB E A T BFEREBHA
China Merchants Investment Associated company Building management 251
Development Co. LTD* of CMSK fee income
RERREERBERAR BEONBELT BFERBHA
China Merchants Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 1,028
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd fee income
RILEEEGFRAA L e E AR EBFERBRA
China Merchants Commercial Property  Subsidiary of CMSK Building management 473
Investment (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd fee income
A AEEEREBR A R OaHE AR BFERBRA
China Merchant International Information  Associated company Building management 150
Technology Co., Ltd of CMSK fee income
RERERESRMBRAR T ONBELF BFERBRA
China Merchants Energy Associated company Building management 646
Shipping Co., Ltd of CMSK fee income
RERERERRNERAF b Akl YN EBFERBRA
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Holding company of a Building management 82
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd Significant Unitholder fee income
RAREOIXRERRHABRAF EXESBURFAAN  BTERERA
ERRA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION
WITH SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS
GROUP (CONTINUED)

Connected Party Transaction - Income

HEAESENEEASEEY
BEALRSE)

BEALRE - WA

(Continued)
Relationship with Nature of
China Merchants connected Income for the
Name of connected party Commercial REIT transactions Reporting Period
HEEREERET ok 2]
HEAL AR EEMEE HER SIS HIMCA
(RMB'000)
(AREFT)
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company Building management 671
of CMSK fee income
HONEMRBRAR) e amlo)id NG BFERBHA
China Merchant Bank Co., Ltd Associated company Building management 239
of CMSK fee income
BARTRHBERAF BARONBELF BFERBRA
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Associated Company Building management 67
Gas Shipping Co., Ltd of CMSK fee income
RINEBRICRMBERAR BREOMBELT BFERBERA
China Merchants Investment Associated company Car parking fee income 55
Development Co. LTD of CMSK
RERREERERAR e aulo)id NG FEERA
China Merchants Commercial Property  Subsidiary of CMSK Car parking fee income 18
Investment (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd
ANIEEEHEREBRAR gietk dukolto) =N FEERA
China Merchant International Information  Associated company Car parking fee income 18
Technology Co., Ltd of CMSK
REREREERMNERAR BEORNBELT FEBEHA
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company Car parking fee income 42
of CMSK
FONEMIRARAR e aulo)id NG FEERA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION EHERESENEEAEEREN
WITH SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS BEALTRZ#E)
GROUP (CONTINUED)
Connected Party Transaction - Income BEALTRSZ —WAE)
(Continued)
Relationship with Nature of
China Merchants connected Income for the
Name of connected party Commercial REIT transactions Reporting Period
B REER REDE
HEAT L BEEREE HERFHIUE A
(RMB'000)
(AR®TT)
China Merchants Real Estate Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 179
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
RNIBERERRAR R OaHE AR Hib A
China Merchants Commercial Property  Subsidiary of CMSK Other income 3
Investment (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd
RINEEEERERRAR el aml: )N HtbA
China Merchants Energy Associated company Other income 1
Shipping Co., Ltd of CMSK
RERERERRNBRAR e aulo)d NG Heple A
Sinotrans Shipping Limited Associated company Other income 1
of CMSK
FONEMRABRAF BALONBELF Hib A
China Merchant Bank Co., Ltd Associated company Other income 54
of CMSK
BARTRHBERAF BERONBELT HtbA
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION
WITH SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS
GROUP (CONTINUED)

Connected Party Transaction - Expenses

HEAESENEEASEEY
BEALRSE)

BEALRS - XH

Name of connected party

BEALAH

Relationship with

China Merchants

Commercial REIT
BRAREERT
EEHRAR

Nature of
connected
transactions

Income for the

Reporting Period

i B
HERH1EE

Shenzhen Investment Promotion Real Subsidiary of CMSK Property management 21,656
Estate Management Co., Ltd expenses
RIEEDEERERAR R OaHE AR MEEERT
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise Subsidiary of CMSK Operations 7,394
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* management
AARACEER(RINERAF BEEOMREAR expenses
BEEBERS
China Merchant Xun Long Associated company Advising and 99
(Shenzhen) Shipping Co. Ltd of CMSK promotion expense
RIEEAERBEERAR e amlo)id NG B REERX
Shekou News Associated company Advising and 238
of CMSK promotion expense
08 Bt AR OMEELT EEREERY
The English names are for identification only BN EBERSE
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION
WITH SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS
GROUP (CONTINUED)

Waiver from Strict Compliance with the
Requirements

The REIT Manager has applied for, and the SFC has
granted a waiver from strict compliance with, the
disclosure and Unitholders’ approvals requirements
under Chapter 8 of the REIT Code in respect of
Leasing transactions, Operations Management
Agreement and Property Management Agreements
of connected party transactions between the
China Merchants Commercial REIT Group on the
one hand and the persons who are connected
persons of China Merchants Commercial REIT
by virtue of their relationships (including but not
limited to directors, controlling entities, holding
companies, subsidiaries or associated companies)
with CMSK (being the holding company of a
Significant Unitholder) or the REIT Manager (the
“CM Connected Persons group”) on the other
hand (“CM Continuing CPTs”). The waiver is
subject to annual caps, auditor’s review in each
relevant financial period, annual review by the Audit
Committee and the Independent Non-Executive
Directors (the “INEDs”) and other terms and
conditions. Information of the waiver and its detailed
terms and conditions have been set out in the
Offering Circular.

HEAXESENBEEAZEEDN
BEALRS @)

FEREEACHERRAEETES
HEEPFH RO (NERED BAF
BANERAB REEEEANH
F(BRETRNES  ZHEE -
ZERAR - MEARSBERR)M
EBERERREEAESBEBEALTZA
T((AEREALTE®R])ETHE
X5 BEERBAERDEEEHE
MEEALTR S ([ REFEREAL
XHRFE MEESCHERRR
RETHEMEREFETESTAFS
EORERESBMIFE AENR
o ZMRRETEE LR - 6D
REERPBARMNOERN  ZBEE
BIBFATEE([BAEHTE
E ) WFE R M EM IR GEM
B BAFA S LA B EL A A R S R AR B R
BERBEBRNTIH -
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION
WITH SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS
GROUP (CONTINUED)

Waiver from Strict Compliance with the
Requirements (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, China Merchants
Commercial REIT has complied with the requisite
Waiver Conditions. The aggregate transaction value
of the CM Continuing CPTs shall not exceed the
following annual caps set for the relevant period:

For the year ending
31 December 2019
HZ2019F
12A31ALFE
RMB'000
ARETT

78,070

Categories of CM Continuing CPTs

BEALR

Transactions under the CM Tenancies

BEREETHRS

Transaction under the Operations 4137
Management Agreement

EEERBRETNIS

Transaction under the Property 57,345
Management Agreements

NEERBRATHZS

The annual caps set out in the table above should
not be taken as the anticipated growth projections
or indicators of the future performance of China
Merchants Commercial REIT.

HEAESENEEASEEY
BEALRSE)

BEBRETRE#)

RBEHE - BERRERRES —
BHETUEHRGMNE - AEERE
ALRSNBEZHEETFBE TS
RRHR R FE LR -

For the year ending
31 December 2020

For the year ending
31 December 2021

B Z2020F HZ20214
12318 IEEE 12A31 B ILEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
112,040 125,476

27 441 31,378

64,228 71,250

EXRABFELRINSGIERERE
EERESARRANBHEREA
BEELE
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CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION
WITH REIT MANAGER

REIT Manager’s Fees

The REIT Manager was incorporated in Hong Kong
on 22 June 2019, with a sole purpose of managing
the assets of China Merchants Commercial REIT.
The REIT Manager is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Merchants Land Limited (stock
code: 00978).The REIT Manager’s fees amounted
to RMB9,1083,000 in relation to the services
provided for the Reporting Period.

The REIT Manager’s fee includes a base fee,
variable fee, acquisition fee and divestment fee. For
the Reporting Period, no variable fee, acquisition
fee and divestment fee were incurred or payable.
10.0% of the base fee distributable income is
calculated based on the unaudited financial
statements of China Merchants Commercial REIT
for the Reporting Period. The base fee will be paid
to the REIT Manager in cash.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTION
WITH TRUSTEE AND/OR TRUSTEE
CONNECTED PERSONS GROUP

Trustee’s Fees

During the Reporting Period, the trustee’s fee
of approximately RMB694,000 was incurred for
services provided by DB Trustees (Hong Kong)
Limited as the trustee of the China Merchants
Commercial REIT.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
WITH OTHER CONNECTED PERSONS

Principal Valuer’s Fee

During the Reporting Period, the valuation fee
of approximately RMB91,000 was incurred for
services provided by Cushman & Wakefield Limited
in the capacity as the principal valuer of China
Merchants Commercial REIT.

HEAEEANBEALRS

EEEAER

EEEIE AN2019F6 A22HEER B
HEfKY W—EMAERBER
BEEAESCHEE -BIEEEA
BREEREMWARAT(BRMHASK :
00978)MEEEZEWB AR - Rk
SHRREENBERBENETEEA
2R A ARE9,103,0007T °

ERAEBEAEABREENER  F5
B KBEARLEER - RS
R WARELSESZBHER K
BEARLEER EABAAUHS
EUWARIN0.0% iR B BRERT
HEeRNBEPENREERTERE
HE o c HABABURES SN FEL
BEA -

HEEREAR SAZRXABEAL
SENBEALRS

ZEAER

RBmEHHE - RRBESER(EE)E
RAFRINES SHRERBEXETES
NETEAMRROREELDARE
694,000TTHIXFEAER ©

BEHMEAZEALTHEABEALRS

ML EmE A

RSB - REBERITER AR
HyARERmERAESNAGE
B FT 12 i 9 AR TS 8 AE 40 AR 591,000
TLHIHEER -
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
BERE

INTEREST OF SIGNIFICANT UNITHOLDERS

Based on the information available to the REIT
Manager as at the Listing Date (10 December 2019)
and 30 June 2020, each of the following persons
was considered as a significant Unitholder and
hence a connected person of China Merchants
Commercial REIT under the REIT Code. So far
as the REIT Manager is aware according to the
data published on the Disclosure of Interests
Online System, the significant Unitholders held
or was interested in the units of China Merchants
Commercial REIT as follow:

EXRESENRAARS

BREELEBEAR ETHE(20194F
12 A10H ) K%202046 A30H Al {5#
AR THZALRESHEREE
AESTAHEAERECENES
A TARERABERRERTE
THREAL - BEAEEARNM
BEG FESBEERHFAMNER
ERECBNRBBAREEEREE
EAESHMESEMRNE R EAE
WU

As at 30 June 2020 As at 10 December 2019
7202046 A30H ®2019%612A108
Percentage
Approximate Approximate point
Number  percentage Number  percentage change in
Name of significant unitholder of interests of Units of interests equity held
HEEE 1 :
ERESEARAALR i
EUREKA INVESTMENT COMPANY 383,641,549 34.02% 377,819,549 33.50% 0.52
LIMITED
hEREEXARLA
Premium Capital Profits Limited 146,198,000 12.96% 146,198,000 12.96% -
Pacific Asset Management Co., Ltd. 137,192,000 12.16% 137,192,000 12.16% =
INTERESTS HELD BY DIRECTORS AND EEBEANEERTHRAR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE REIT frid#E#

MANAGER

Pursuant to the REIT Code, China Merchants
Commercial REIT’s connected party is required to
disclose its interests in the Units. Besides, the trust
deed is deemed to be applicable to, among other
things, the REIT Manager, the directors of the REIT
Manager in virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the
SFO.

38

BEREERESTRIRE - B8
RREXFEEESNEEATARER
ESBUMERS o WO BHREE
fFRGIEXVEB R IF SR ERER WO RE R
RNETRBE)EEEEA  FEER
AHEE -
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS | & &

The interests of the REIT Manager’s directors in B EEAZEERHEAEEAGTE
the Units recorded in the register maintained by the ~ B &L MIREME S BAERNT
REIT Manager are as follows:

As at 30 June 2020 As at 10 December 2019
72020564308 20195127108
Approximate Approximate
Number percentage Number percentage
Name of director of Unit of interests of Units of interest
BEES RS
024 y
Huang Junlong 39 Nil & - Nil -
Guo Jin % 160,000 0.01% Nil & =
LiuNing 2|2 NIl = Nil & =
Yu Zhiliang RER 160,000 0.01% Nil =
Lin Hua #& Nil & = Nil =
Lin Chen & Nil & = Nil -
Lau Sze Wan, Serena 2I5 Nil 2 - Nil E -
INTERESTS HELD BY SENIOR EEANSRITHRABMEER

EXECUTIVE OF THE MANAGER

The interests of the senior executives of the REIT ERAEEASHRITHAB (BEER
Manager (being the connected persons of China HXEAESHMBEEAL)IBEES
Merchants Commercial REIT) in the Units are as  BfufEzmu T :

follows:
As at 30 June 2020 As at 10 December 2019
202046 A30H #2019F12 8108
Approximate Approximate
Number percentage Number percentage
Name of senior executive of Units of interests of Units of interests
HEES AR HEES i
BRTHABHE By By
Zhong Ning &% 32,000 0.00% Nil 2 -
Choo Chong Yao, Patrick {2 Nil - Nil =
Xiong Jing B&&% Nil - Nil & =
Chen Yan [ Nil - Nil =
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INTERESTS OF THE REIT MANAGER

As at 30 June 2020, the REIT Manager did not hold
any units in China Merchants Commercial REIT.

INTERESTS HELD BY OTHER
CONNECTED PERSONS

Saved as disclosed above, the REIT Manager is
not aware of any other connected persons of CMC
REIT, including the Trustee and the Principal Valuer,
who are interested (or deemed to be interested) in
any Units as at the Listing Date and 30 June 2020.

EEEAER

MR20204F6 A30H @ FREEBALE
HERARBESAESHNITNES

BAL o

HtBEA L iisER

BREXHIEBEEREEI  BRBEEAL
THIZE - B £ HE X 202046 A30
A AAHEGENREERTESN
BEAL(BEZEARBEERM)F
BB AFEEEMNESEMNER -
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ISSUANCE OF UNITS

During the Reporting Period, there were no new
Units issued.

EMPLOYEES

China Merchants Commercial REIT is an externally
managed trust and does not employ any staff.

NEW UNITS ISSUED

During the Reporting Period, there were no new
Units issued.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF UNITS

During the Reporting Period, there was no sale
or redemption of Units by China Merchants
Commercial REIT or its wholly-owned and
controlled entities.

SUMMARY OF ALL SALE AND PURCHASE
OF REAL ESTATE

China Merchants Commercial REIT did not enter
into any real estate sales and purchases during the
Reporting Period.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available
and as far as the REIT Manager is aware, not less
than 25% of the outstanding units in issue of China
Merchants Commercial REIT were held in public
hands as of 30 June 2020.

OTHER INFORMATION
Hing#

BITESEN
RIREIRE - BEBITHESEM -

(=]
HRARAEXETESRIINIERR
& WEEREFMET

ERTHESEN
NREME - RERTHESEN -
BE HEIBOESEN
RNBEHRE - HEBHBHEETE

SREFEREHNERLERED
He B -

FERHBERENSE

RBEDRE - BERAREERESY
BEEEAFEME

ABEEE
ERARABZERRIEETEEA
Fr4n » 7A202096 A30H » B T4
SEMHNARIFEETENR25% °
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REPORT ON REVIEW OF CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BOHREMBRRNEFES

Deloitte

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND ASSET MANAGEMENT
CO., LIMITED

(as Manager of China Merchants Commercial Real
Estate Investment Trust)

INTRODUCTION

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated
financial statements of China Merchants
Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust
(“China Merchants Commercial REIT”) and
its subsidiaries set out on pages 44 to 81, which
comprise the condensed consolidated statement
of financial position as of 30 June 2020 and the
related condensed consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
condensed consolidated statement of changes in
net assets attributable to unitholders, condensed
consolidated statement of cash flows and
distribution statement for the six months period
then ended, and certain explanatory notes. The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited require
the preparation of a report on interim financial
information to be in compliance with the relevant
provisions thereof and International Accounting
Standard 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” (“lAS 34”)
issued by the International Accounting Standard
Board. China Merchants Land Asset Management
Co., Limited (the “Manager” of China Merchants
Commercial REIT) is responsible for the preparation
and presentation of these condensed consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IAS 34. Our
responsibility is to express a conclusion on these
condensed consolidated financial statements based
on our review, and to report our conclusion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

=

BEEREREERRARNESS

(lERBBREFEMEGTESZ
EHEA)

#=

KRB EEEEREESER
AES((BERBEEREES ) E
WEBARTEHRELMEEZFS1ED
AR A SR K - BIEE £2020
F6A30HMRAZA B NER K
HEZAIENE A BEMEEERE
AEZEREMEEKEE  BHEZE
EScBUBEEARGKEESEE

x BRGARERERRDERE
REFHTER - BEBARZAT
BRARESEWHARE - B E
BB EENRENAERE LTHR
AMBBEXEER S ENZEE
MBI & 5T 2RI 58 34 5% [ R HRES
s (BB EAEI4K]) -
BEREMEERARAR(ABER
BMERTEHESHN [BEBAEABSER
BEBEHENEMRER L2
ZEEPRETBERE - HAINET
EREBEEHNER  HZEEHHEE
M mERIEL LR - WREBERMIAOH
EERERENESE(EAZE)R
S RIEZINREREEME A o
BT ERARE AR BT EA
AT B FSRAEEAER -
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REPORT ON REVIEW OF CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

SCOPE OF REVIEW

We conducted our review in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Review Engagements
2410 “Review of Interim Financial Information
Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. A review of these condensed
consolidated financial statements consists of
making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible
for financial and accounting matters, and applying
analytical and other review procedures. A review is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing and consequently does not enable us to
obtain assurance that we would become aware
of all significant matters that might be identified in
an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion.

CONCLUSION

Based on our review, nothing has come to our
attention that causes us to believe that the
condensed consolidated financial statements are
not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance
with IAS 34.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 August 2020

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRGRESUBERNBERES

HHEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RERBEREMEZBRER

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

RMB’000
AR¥T T
Notes (unaudited)
Mt | (REEZ)
Revenue Wz 4 177,906
Property operating expenses MEKERY ) (39,203)
Net property income LIE G 138,703
Exchange loss bE & B (25,541)
Other income EAb g A 6 5,211
Decrease in fair value of KEMEL R BERD
investment properties (5,294)
Manager's fee BEREAEA 7 (9,103)
Trust and other expenses Ert R EHM A (3,356)
Finance costs RhE R AR 8 (29,604)
Profit before tax and RETRMBERES BN
distribution to unitholders BB A5 IRE) T 9 71,016
Income taxes FriS®t 10 (25,395)
Profit for the period, before REtRESBUIFBA
distribution to unitholders 73K B9 ER 103 ) 45,621
Distribution to unitholders ESBUFEADIK (81,932)
Loss for the period, after et RESBAFEA
distribution to unitholders DIREERAE A (36,311)
Total comprehensive expense EEREESBEMEE A
for the period, after transactions RBEHHENEERAY BT
with unitholders (36,311)
Basic earnings per unit BESBEMEARAT 11 RMBO0.04
AR¥0.04T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 | 4

As at

30 June
2020
A20204F
6H30H

RMB’000

ARBT T
(unaudited)
(RBER)

B4 F5 R T 3R

42020 6 A 30 B

As at

31 December
2019
R20194F
12H31H
RMB’000
ARETFT
(audited)
(EZ)

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties REYE 12 6,609,000 6,609,000
Property, plant and VI - BB KR
equipment 617 291
6,609,617 6,609,291
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables T%&Eﬁﬁfguk*ﬁlﬁ 13 29,272 748
Amounts due from related & s & FIE
companies 22 23,405 6,206
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRRS 993,607 1,461,377
1,046,284 1,468,331
Total assets EE#E 7,655,901 8,077,622
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables & 5 N H b E{F 708 14 81,707 83,852
Amounts due to related FEAS B A R 5RIE
companies 22 662,354 1,277,199
Distribution payable FERT IR 96,303 14,371
Secured bank borrowings  AEIFIRITIE R 15 520 8
Tax payables FERTFLIE 13,134 44,279
854,018 1,419,701
Non-current liabilities, ERBEBE(FREE
excluding net assets HSEBUBEA
attributable to EhREETHE)
unitholders
Secured bank borrowings — AiRIBRITER 15 2,048,894 1,887,632
Deferred tax liabilities BEEIEAE 16 1,001,999 982,988
Total non-current ERBEBELEEE
liabilities, excluding net (FHRIEHES
assets attributable to BUEEA
unitholders EREERE) 3,050,893 2,870,620
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRR

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 | 74 2020 £ 6 A 30 B

As at

30 June
2020
A20204F JiA
6H30H

As at
31 December

N2019%F
12H31H
RMB’000

AREFTT

(audited)
(EZ)

RMB’000

ARBT T
(unaudited)
(RBER)

Notes
MteE

Total liabilities, excluding EE2AHE(TEIEES

net assets attributable BUEEA
to unitholders ELHEEFE) 3,904,911 4,290,321
Net assets attributable E&B{iEHE AE(S
to unitholders EERHE 3,750,990 3,787,301
Number of units CRTESENEE
in issue (‘000) (F1@) 17 1,127,820 1,127,820
Net asset value per unit SELEMEETFE 18 RMB3.33 RMB3.36
AR#3.331t AR¥3.367C

L6 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL RIET | INTERIM REPORT 2020



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS
MOEREURBARGEERERAR

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z 2020 4F 6 A 30 B L7518 A

Issued
units Other  Profit (loss)
BEfT reserve less

HEEBH Ht#s  distribution

RMB’000 RMB000  EF(E8) Total
ARETT  ARETxR HAK #st
(note 17) (note) RMB’000 RMB’000
(Hs#17) (##)  AR®Fn  AR%Txn

For the six months ended & 2202056 A30H |-

30 June 2020 ~EA
Net assets attributable HEBUHEA

to unitholders [iEETE
As at 1 January 2020 202051418

(audited) (fms&1%) 3,391,529 379,499 16,273 3,787,301
Profit for the period, before Kt RESBEFA

distribution to unitholders 2 REEIRE R - = 45,621 45,621
Interim distribution payable  Eff£4 EfiiEE AL

to unitholders FEAR - - (81,932) (81,932)
Total comprehensive BA2ERX LS

expense for the period - - (36,311) (36,311)
Net assets attributable 12020456 A30HH)

to unitholders as HeBHEA

at 30 June 2020 [EiREETE

(unaudited) (REER) 3,391,529 379,499 (20,038) 3,750,990

Note: B -

Upon completion of the acquisition of subsidiaries in 2019, China R2019F R KEHBARE  RERBER
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (“China WELEETES ((HERBERETES])ER
Merchants Commercial REIT”) owns the property holding Frontier Shekou Commercial Holdings Limited
companies established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) ([ Frontier Shekou |) #EA KRR E AR LM
through Frontier Shekou Commercial Holdings Limited (“Frontier ([HRE DRI EER AT - Z2FBEER
Shekou”). The amount represents excess of fair value of the acquired BHBARAABEBHKBRAZ ZBARE
subsidiaries over acquisition costs amounting to RMB379,499,000. 379,499,0007T °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A HBhe
RERERER
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

RMB’000
AR¥T T
(unaudited)
(REERK)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES RS
Cash from operation KEMBIRE 99,242
Withholding tax paid [=ERPLEE L (15,968)
PRC Enterprise Income BB EMER

Tax (“EIT”) paid ([¥EmBH) (21,561)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING &% X5 RE&FHE

ACTIVITIES 61,713
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REES
Addition to investment properties (& % & )% (5,294)
Interest received B2 FIE 4,471
Purchase of property, EEWME - BE LR E

plant and equipment (357)
NET CASH USED IN BRETHFMABRSEE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,180)
NET FINANCING ACTIVITIES @& TEFH
New bank loans raised MELERITER 129,375
Repayment to related companies [A & Q&85 (634,969)
Interest paid BRFE (27,179)
NET CASH USED IN METBMARSTE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (632,773)
Net decrease in cash and BeRBEeEEBMRFE

cash equivalent (472,240)
NET CASH AND CASH HOReRELESEYEER

EQUIVALENT AT THE

BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 1,461,377
Effect of foreign exchange SNETE R BB 3 2

rate change 4,470
CASH AND CASH HARSRESEEY

EQUIVALENTS AT END OF BR1T 4 R IRE
PERIOD, represented by bank
balances and cash 993,607
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DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT
DIRK

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

RMB’000
AR®T

(unaudited)
(REBEZX)

Profit for the period, before K RESBENFEADIRN

distribution to unitholders HAREF 45,621
Adjustments: R
Decrease in fair value of KEWMERRBERD
investment properties 5,294
Non-cash finance costs FEIR & RE KA 2,400
Exchange loss FE 4 548 25,541
Depreciation e 31
Deferred tax IRIERIA 19,011
Overprovision of withholding tax — ¥8 2 7 T8 A &8 4 & (15,966)
Total distributable income to THEESEMZFEASIRN
unitholders (note (ii) W\ 48 X8 ( it 2 (ii)) 81,932
Payout ratio (note (i) PIREL =R (B EE (i) 100%
Distributions per unit (‘DPU”) SE¢BN 5 RK((SELBENDIK])
Proposed interim distribution BREINNEESEN RMBO0.0726
per unit to be paid (note (i) HRHR R (K733 (ii) AR#0.07267T

Notes: Bz -

()  Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the total distributable income () REEERS TSRKAGEARRE
is profit for the period, before distribution to unitholders S AD RN - WA HEI
as adjusted to eliminate the effects of Adjustments (as set S5 A MBI EAR A RS A B R S
out in the Trust Deed) which have been recorded in the B EOAE(HREERON) ML -
condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss and other B REYENEREETES ((RERE
comprehensive income statement for the relevant period. SENES |VAMNESBNREASEES
China Merchants Commercial REIT is required to distribute to (BB B HRRT R A 00% 9 AT R UK A, o &3
unitholders not less than 90% of its distributable income of AtBlHESBIEE AN EEERELE
each financial period. The Manager intends to distribute to the HESHE2019F128108 (LT EE])
Unitholders an amount of 100% of annual total distributable Z=00224E12 A 31 B S A8 EAE 100% & 7]
income of China Merchants Commercial REIT for each HHRRALE  MEANESETRESS
relevant period from the 10 December 2019 (“Listing Date”) LIRS A R U A R EERI90% o

to 31 December 2022, and at least 90% of the total annual
distributable income for each financial year thereafter.
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DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT
DIRE

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

(i

(iii)

50

The proposed interim distribution per unit of RMB0.0726 for
the six months ended 30 June 2020 is calculated based on the
interim distribution to be paid to unitholders of RMB81,932,000
for the period and 1,127,819,549 units in issue as at 30 June
2020.

Pursuant to the DPU commitment deed entered into among,
Eureka Investment Company Limited (“Eureka”), China
Merchants Commercial REIT and DB Trustees (Hong Kong)
Limited (the “Trustee”), Eureka has undertaken to make a
payment to the Trustee for the benefit of China Merchants
Commercial REIT if the annualised provisional DPU is less than
the annualised committed DPU for the relevant periods as set
out below:

Annualised
Relevant period committed DPU

Listing Date to 31 December 2019 HK$0.2360 per unit

12 months ending 31 December 2020 HK$0.2360 per unit

12 months ending 31 December 2021 HK$0.2541 per unit

12 months ending 31 December 2022 HK$0.2614 per unit

The final DPU for the period from Listing Date to 31 December
2019 after taking into account the effect of the distribution
commitment is HK$0.0142 (equivalent to RMB0.0127).
Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the distribution for the period from
and including the Listing Date to 31 December 2019 and the
interim distribution for the six months ended 30 June 2020
(details set out in note (ii)) will be paid together to individuals
regarded as unitholders on the record date of the interim
distribution for the six months ended 30 June 2020. The first
distribution will be made no later than 30 November 2020. All
distributions will be paid in Hong Kong dollars.

(i)

HZE2020F6 A30H IENEAATESEMH
BETESIRARK0.0726 T TR IR H A
RMESBUHAEAIMNOPHESRARE
81,932,0007T % 202046 A30H A B B 1T 5
$8111,127,819,5491E & -

REHZHABZERAR([RE]) - B
REXFRESHEEEER(FE)ERA
A(TZEADMRI LN S ES B RAGE
RY - HROCAEEFLEESESEMD
KER TR ERBHNFCEESEMD
K ERERZEAMEETROARERE
EEAESREHRAN)

FEESEN
Ll B IRAEGE
B RS BESEM
201912 A31H 0.2360/8 7T

HZE2020F12A318 1L BESBM
12184 0.23607# 7T

HZE2021F12A318 1t BES B
1218 A 0.25417 7T

HZE2022F12A318 1t BESB
12188 0.26147# 7T

WA RDEAXZN T ER RETEHE
201912 AT BB B KRB ES B S
& /0.01428 T (HERARKE0.01277T) ©
RBEEZN B LTAB(REZB)E
20194 12 A 31 A iR K 9 k32 A # = 2020
F6 308 78 A #95 # 53 Ik (G5 SR M
(ii)) % — Bf 5 )k T H &L £ 2020F 6 A30 H /<
BEAMFHSRCHAHBESEMIFEA
Z AT o BIRDIRNETER20205 11 A 30
BT o FTA D IRHGAB TR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

REMBERNE

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

GENERAL

China Merchants Commercial REIT is a Hong
Kong collective investment scheme authorised
under section 104 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and its units are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “HKSE”). China Merchants Commercial
REIT is governed by the deed of trust dated
15 November 2019, as amended from time to
time (the “Trust Deed”), entered into between
China Merchants Land Assets Management
Co., Limited (the “Manager”) and the Trustee,
and the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts
(the “REIT Code”) issued by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong.

The principal activity of China Merchants
Commercial REIT is investment holding and
its subsidiaries own and invest in income-
producing commercial properties in Shekou,
Shenzhen with the objective of producing stable
and sustainable distributions to unitholders and
to achieve long term growth in the net asset
value per unit. The address of the registered
office of the Manager and the Trustee, is Room
2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong and Level 60, International
Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road, West
Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The condensed consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”),
which is the same as the functional currency of
China Merchants Commercial REIT.

—REHR
RERR¥(EaEs s —BIRIE
BB ENESTIEES RBEK
BIE10MEER AT BB LB
Bt HEASBUNNEBBA
REMBRAB([EBBRFT])
FiREM - BARAEETES
SHERBEMEEERAR(E
BA|)HEZEAR2019F11 A
15 BRI M5 5T ﬁ(meTﬂ
i) ([EERN ) REBES
%E%%%%%%ﬁﬁ%m%m
EREERESTI(EHER
BEEgRESTHDARE -

BERRERTESNIZEN
BIREER  MEKMBARNE
BERAEARILENZEY O
mElkmANE  BiEhRES
BUBEAREBEHEND IR
MEYESESEMNEEFENR
RIBE - BIEARSZEARNZR
MEEWU DR ATBSTHEEP
168-2005REZF LBEBAE
26122603 F 2606 %= K & HE T L
BN T AE1RIRKE S EH60
@ °

BEVBBRRAARE(TAR
L EDERII AE%F%%%%%
EEAESNIIRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEVERRMNE

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

2.

52

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The condensed consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance
with the applicable disclosure requirements of
Appendix 16 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the HKSE and with International
Accounting Standard 34 (“IAS 34”) “Interim
Financial Reporting” and the relevant disclosure
requirements set out in Appendix C of the
REIT Code issued by the Securities Futures
Commission of Hong Kong.

The condensed consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June
2020 are the first interim financial statements of
China Merchants Commercial REIT, therefore
no comparative figures for the condensed
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and condensed
consolidated statement of cash flows are
presented.

The outbreak of Covid-19 and the subsequent
quarantine measures as well as the travel
restrictions imposed by many countries have
had negative impacts to the global economy,
business environment and directly and indirectly
affect the operations of China Merchants
Commercial REIT and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”). The
Group has arranged rental concessions to
certain tenants due to the outbreak of the
Covid-19. As such, the performance of the
Group were affected in different aspects,
including reduction in revenue.

2, mRMERE

AR A M RER DR BE BB R
Freg s Emh R BT %16/ 38 A
BRTERERETEAE4HR
[ EE ISR | ([ BB & 5T 2E Al
HEMK D ARBEEBESFRBAES
BERZEERMH(BHER
BiEEEES DK SRCHE M
R TRE -

B E2020F 6 H30H 1L/ E A #Y
HREETBRRATNHREE
FRES AN RHBH®REK - &
TEZ7BAREERNEGBE
Al ERALERGEREERE
RELLBET o

Covid-19/8 8 A 2 % B 5 H 12
B e #) [F8 BEEHE Bte S R B PR 3 2
BREEREHREENERY
2 YTHEKHNEZEHERA
EFEEEREWB AR (5MHE
[REB ) RNEBERER - AR
Covid-19/# 3 - AN&E R E THE
FRrEESESE - Ait  A&H
MRANTRTEEZIZE
BEkERD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRM

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICES

The condensed consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for investment
properties that are measured at fair values.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange of
goods.

Other than changes in accounting policies
resulting from application of amendments to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) and application of certain accounting
policies which became relevant to the
Group, the accounting policies and methods
of computation used in the condensed
consolidated financial statements for the six
months ended 30 June 2020 are the same as
those followed in the preparation of the Group’s
annual financial statements for the period from
15 November 2019 (the date of establishment)
to 31 December 2019.

3.

FTEEHEE

AR A M BRRTIZE LKA
EERE  EREMETEDR
EEE - BELRA-—RERR
BERATHREZAAEE
FTE -

B FE FA BARR B 7% 3 5 22 A1 ([ B BR
MEHREER NETAEHN G
FATERESH RERAEANEEFH
ZETERTBERIN - BE2020F
6 A308 IE/NE AWML A B
BHREFMANSHBERIER
ETEIREIAEBER20196F11 4
158 (B B H#f) =2019F 12 A
1AM FETBSRERATER
EHHER -

o
al
B
g
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEVERRMNE

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

3.

54

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICES
(CONTINUED)

Application of amendments to IFRSs

In the current interim period, the Group has
applied the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards and
the following amendments to IFRSs issued
by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”), for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for
the preparation of the Group’s condensed
consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to Definition of Material
IAS 1 and IAS 8

Amendments to Definition of a Business

IFRS 3

Amendments to Interest Rate
IFRS 9, IAS 39 Benchmark Reform
and IFRS 7

Except as described below, the application
of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
and the amendments to IFRSs in the current
period has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior periods and/or on
the disclosures set out in these condensed
consolidated financial statements.

3. TEEHBERE)

e P BB Bt B 5 S 5 R AUB RT A
RARPHHRE - AEERFEEA
SENBRGEEVBRERKEER
RERBEEesE R Ee ([
BEtENESES ) EMHRK
R mE A SERMRE 2
BT A R IAT BIRR B 7% i &5 22 R
BRI - BRAER] AN 202041
A1 B AR RN FE SRR
B

il S=hp ]
F1RRARG
EBFEH BT A

il
EIFIERTA

il St
F0% - BERgst
HBI £30% [ B
B RE LA ETH
CHES

BEAZES

FHIER

REMEZE

BT Pt oh - AR e A Y
B R B 7% S 5 SE RUBE AR R A0 4R
2 AE R AN K B R B 7 e 5 22 R
MERT A AR EE B KB T
BB AN R RE R, %E
R A B MRAE AR ER
BEAYE -

CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL RIET | INTERIM REPORT 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRM

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICES

(CONTINUED)

Application of amendments to IFRSs
(Continued)

Impacts of application on Amendments to
IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The amendments provide a new definition of
material that states “information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements, which provide financial
information about a specific reporting entity.”
The amendments also clarify that materiality
depends on the nature or magnitude of
information, either individually or in combination
with other information, in the context of the
financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the
current period had no impact on the condensed
consolidated financial statements. Changes in
presentation and disclosures on the application
of the amendments, if any, will be reflected on
the consolidated financial statements for the
year ending 31 December 2020.

3. TEEHBERE)

EREERMBEREENETE
FE P B & AT E R 381 5 R B AR
B ERESR 5T [EAZE
& I2HE
ZEERHENRBRTESE - 5
HHER - SHRBRAKBESR
HraamihRBes —RA®RN
BHRERNETZEAEENZEY
BHR(REHETHRSERNH
BEFEHAREERTZE
AEHERBREKN] - ZE5E
FINERHERER SR EEM
BRI RMBERERELSREN
BATEEBEREG KETE
Mz EERREME -

AR EAZ S ET HERgs
BV BEHRETELE - BAZXS
CHEEGEXINE 3 ¢
BH)EBHREZE2020F12 A31 8 1k
FEMNEEMBEREP KL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRNE

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

3.

56

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICES
(CONTINUED)

Accounting policies newly applied by the
Group

In addition, the Group has applied the following
accounting policies which became relevant to
the Group in the current interim period.

Variable lease payments (the Group as a
lessor)

When a lease contract contains a specific
clause that provides for rent reduction or
suspension of rent in the event that the
underlying assets (or any part thereof) are
affected by adverse events beyond the control
of the Group and the lessee so as to render
the underlying assets unfit or not available for
use, the relevant rent reduction or suspension
of rent resulting from the specific clause is
accounted for a part of the original lease and
not as a lease modification. Such rent reduction
or suspension of rent is recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers those payments to occur.

3. TEEHBERE)

FEBHEANS T RE

s - AEBEE R TR AH
HMMEAEEEHN K

s

=R e

HEEEN T (FEEERHHE
A)

HWHEAROBEREGIRERE
HEEE(REERH) BAE
B R R A BRI AR E
BEXFE BEHBEETNEAS
HEAEAE  IEFAREARE
Bt - R E RS B R R
BEXEREEARIBREE
B — & D MmIEEEEET - BEM
AT 2 H N B EZ SN RN
=HHIERELEHRARNIERED

7
o ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERME

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION

Revenue recognition

Rental income from office buildings

4. WERDBER

R
RMB’000
AR®ETT

(Unaudited)
(RBEZ)

BFEERBYHOESEA

and a shopping centre 151,204
Management fee income ERBKA 17,245
Carpark income BAA 3,410
Others Efh 6,047
Revenue from contracts with FEEEERNRERER

customers recognised over time Bk 26,702

177,906

The Group’s investment properties are leased
to tenants under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. Lease payments for some
contracts depend on shopping centre’s
turnover pursuant to the terms and conditions
as set out in respective rental agreements.

The gross rental income from investment
properties includes variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate of
RMB863,000 for the current period.

Others represent revenue from advertising
income and air conditioning income.

AEBENREMERBLERE
REFMEE  ARAXNES -
*ETFE?%TH%T&**%%WJE’JM%
Ko fett - By & AR B E N R
ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%uﬂ’]kﬁgﬁﬁﬁm g

AR EREMEN LRSI
A BRI IEE 5B Ry Al
BHEENKARKES63,0007T

Hipfe kB EERARZEAKRA
U Es ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEVERRMNE

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

4,

58

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

All services within the scope of IFRS 15 are
for period of one year or less, except for
management fee income and others which are
provided for a period of one year or more. For
management fee income and other, the Group
applied the practical expedient in IFRS 15 to
recognise revenue in the amount that the Group
has the right to invoice based on the terms of
the relevant agreements in which the Group
bills a fixed monthly amount. As permitted
under IFRS 15, the transaction price of all these
services allocated to the remaining performance
obligations as at the end of each reporting
period is not disclosed.

Segment information

The Group determines its operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Manager,
being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM"), that are used to make strategic
decisions. The Group’s reportable segments
are classified as (i) office buildings; and (ii)
shopping centre, which are based on the types
of properties held by the Group. Office buildings
segment aggregates the operating segments,
each being an individual office building,
namely New Times Plaza, Cyberport Building,
Technology Building and Technology Building
2, on the basis that the similar economic
characteristic and nature of services provided.
There is no aggregation of operating segment
for shopping centre segment.

W=k 2 EBER )

W FERR (47

BRI EERF1FHBER
MAERB(EERBRARE
ks EERH—FRAL)
BRB—FRAT -pELEIR
AREAMTF - A5 ERAREK
B g IR E LR F 165K M A 1T
HZi REARESARLE
HRERER D& FRERAE
EAEMAASRRSENYE - H
T B % B 75 5 RSB 1655 P UE
i WEREMERERBERNE
BEMROEEHR TEORMEN
RHE °

2EEH

AREBREHEEA(EAE
BLBREA(EZEEERE
AD)) BB B AEHRBORE
MRS BTHELEHE - A%
ERBEAEEMEDELRRB2
BAOMAOVRNBTE - R()HE
PR D o RIS EFE R
FTiRERIEMMEE - BFEH
EaEABYEFEHER
B HBEAE - REAERE
BRAE-H)z—WEEHZ -
WEBBYH LD BELLED

2B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERME

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results by reportable segment.

For the period ended 30 June 2020 (unaudited)

4. WERFEHER &)

2E S R A
AT RAEERZHRD HME I
Yok R EBEDHT

B ZE2020%F6530H 1FHiE (KAE
#F#)

Office  Shopping
buildings centre Total
EFE By O o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tr AR¥Tn AR%Tn
Segment revenue o Ep R 124,863 53,043 177,906
Segment results DEELE 103,380 35,182 138,562
Exchange loss & 5 &R (25,541)
Other income Hb g A 58
Manager's fee EEANEBR (9,103)
Trust and other expenses S REMAL (3,356)
Finance costs AR A (29,604)
Profit before tax and A RBERESEN
distribution to unitholders 135 A 2 K525 71,016
Income taxes FriS® (25,395)
Profit for the period, before K RELEMEFEHA
distribution to unitholders 2 RAHA A F 45,621

The accounting policies of the reportable
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit before tax
earned by each segment without allocation
of exchange loss, certain other income and
other unallocated operating expenses. This
is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

EHN B2 BFRRAREER
MisE3pmtt ) &5 BRER - 5
B0 I HE £ 30 48 5 L BE H B
ETHEMBAREMARD L E
P 2180 T &7 B ERELZ BR 75
AE A - ERMEZZERKA
MEBERD B R FAF RSN

=
=-°
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 4. WaRIBER @)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about major customers EEXEEFNESR

For the period ended 30 June 2020 revenue of HZE2020F6 A30H IEHAME - Uk
RMB42,709,000 was derived from the related = AR #42,709,0007T 3K & B3 B
companies which are group of companies A ZERRABEREESR
under China Merchants Group Limited (“CMG”). RAR([IBEREE])ETH—

FEVANCTIG

5. PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES 5. MIEKERX

RMB’000
AR¥TR
(Unaudited)
(REBEZR)
Advertising and promotion BE REE 1,630
Agency fee REZ 87
Property management expenses MEEIEE 21,656
Operations manager’s fee EEERBAER 7,394
Other taxes B FiE 8,056
Others Hoh 380
39,203

6. OTHER INCOME 6. Hfslr A
RMB’000
ARET T
(Unaudited)
(RBEX)
Interest income FLEMA 4,471
Others EHAth 740
5,211

60 CHINA MERCHANTS COMMERCIAL RIET | INTERIM REPORT 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERME

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

7. MANAGER’S FEE

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager is
entitled to receive 10% per annum of the base
fee distribution income for the six months
ended 30 June 2020 as remuneration. Base fee
distributable income is the amount of the total
distributable income to unitholders calculated
before accounting for the Base fee payable for
the period.

Manager’s fee:
In the form of cash

7. EEAEH

RIBEFEREL - B E£2020F6 A
30BLEANEAR BEEBABES
FULEREL AR B A Al 4 5 R A
10%1EAENE - EAERAHY
IR A B ET AN A R AR E
ArRstENARESEMNEEA
DIREUR A MBEE -

RMB’000
AR¥T T

(Unaudited)
(REEEZ)

EEAER
B & A

9,103

The Manager may elect at its sole discretion to
receive the Manager’s fee in the form of cash
or entirely or partly in the form of units. If no
election is made, the most recent valid election
made by the Manager in a prior calendar year
(if any) shall apply and, if there is no such prior
calendar year election by the Manager, the
Manager’s fee shall be paid in cash. Since
there is no prior calendar year election by the
Manager, the Manager’s fee is 100% in the form
of cash for the current period.

EEATREBHRBRERN
BETALEHLBONESE
AR ERAER - 1T 1E
HiE# - AEBAREBERSF
(B EHMRIIHARRE
BER MEEBARBEESF
WEFHEREE  AIBEAR
AHARE XN - AREEAR
BEBFTEELRE  AHE
EEANBABZBUARESTAX
fif
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8. FINANCE COSTS

Interest expense on bank borrowings
Amortisation of upfront payments

RITEFAH BRI
FEAS SRR I

8. BMEMAK

RMB’000
AR®ETR

(Unaudited)
(REEEX)

27,204
2,400

29,604

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND

9. Rt RBERESENRFEA

DISTRIBUTION TO UNITHOLDERS 70 K B 72

62

Profit before tax and distribution to
unitholders has been arrived at after
charging:

Auditors’ remuneration
Depreciation

Trustee’s remuneration
Principal valuer’s fee
Bank charges

REtRBIARESEMIFAA
2R E R TR AT
BIRRER
3Gl e
e
RFENE
BILEMER
RITFEE

RMB’000
ARET T

(Unaudited)
(REER)

1,358
31
694
91
271
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10.INCOME TAXES 10. FRi5 %
RMB’000
AR® TR
(Unaudited)
(REBER)
Current tax BNEATL IR
PRC EIT P EEEMEHR
Current period K EAfE 21,569
Underprovision in prior period BITEEBETR 781
Withholding tax TEIRTE T
Overprovision in prior period B EAR B RR A (15,966)
Deferred tax (note 16) EEF A (KiFE16)
Current period ZREAE 19,011
25,395
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has HRAEERARHETELE
been provided as the Group has no estimated EIfEEHERTR A - WL E
assessable profits in Hong Kong in the current BAETISTEL B -
period.
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BEABREAHS([RBELH#
British Virgin Islands (“BVI’), the Group is not EDHMBRARRN - NEBHE
subject to any income tax in the BVI. BN RBRZBEMEH o
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of BIEFEAREMBESEMETH
China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT FE(TEMBRE]) REEMB
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT FMEBEBMA - FEMBARR
Law, the statutory income tax rate of the PRC AHE R AR E B25% ©

subsidiaries is 25% for the current period.
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11.BASIC EARNINGS PER UNIT MN.EESENERAER
The calculation of the basic earnings per unit KT RESBEMNEFEEADIKNE
before distribution to unitholders is based on B BAERABFIDBRBERT R
the profit for the period, before distribution EBMREAD KRN BHARF
to unitholders with the weighted average BRIABIN B BT E & BAINE
number of units in issue during the period of S #1,127,819,549(@5E

1,127,819,549 units.

There were no dilutive potential units during BRE 202096 8301 |- HAME
the period ended 30 June 2020, therefore BMEBTEHEESBEM - BitI
the diluted earnings per unit has not been EmEYGESEMEERT -
presented.

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. R EWE

1 January 15 November
2020 to 2019 to
30 June 31 December

2020 2019
20204 20195
1A1BZE 11 H15H

20204 Z=20194F
6H30H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000
ART R | AR TT
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEER) (&%)
FAIR VALUE AREE

At beginning of the period R EI# 6,609,000 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BB A 7 - 6,579,000
Additions during the period HIRRE 5,294 1,467

Fair value changes on REMEZAREE
investment properties #E (5,294) 28,533
At the end of the period REIR 6,609,000 6,609,000
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12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The Group’s office buildings and a shopping
centre are investment properties which
are located in Shenzhen, the PRC and are
measured using the fair value model.

Investment properties were revalued as at 30
June 2020 by Cushman & Wakefield Limited
(the “Valuer”). The Valuer has appropriate
professional qualifications and experience in
the valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations.

The Valuer adopted income approach — income
capitalisation method or discounted cash flow
analysis to arrive the valuation of investment
properties as at 30 June 2020. The income
capitalisation method adopted by the Valuer
has taken into account the net rental income
of a property derived from its existing leases
and/or achievable in the existing market with
due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the leases, which has been then
capitalised to determine the fair value at an
appropriate capitalisation rate. The discounted
cash flow analysis involves discounting future
cash flows of the property to its present value
by using an appropriate discount rate with due
allowance for the reversionary net income of the
property, which is capitalised with a terminal
capitalisation rate.

12.1REWHE )

AEENRFERBYTLAK
BEWE - LRPEFRN - LR
RBEERGE -

WEAMEN2020F6 A0 B &
ERITERAB([{SEL])ETT
B o HERMEE AR ERE 2 Y
HMUMEETHEZABREES
R -

20206 A30H - (H{ERERA
WAE— RSB A Ak B IR IR
CREDMNERKREMER
B - (HEMRANKEEARNEE
Bt RERAROTERE, %
REEMSPAIMBZYERS
WAFEE  YERHEEZERK
ANBNEHBEERE  BBzA
WA FERABERRER
{ELAEEAREE - MRBEER
EOMHFRERBEMNMEERR
MENARBESREHBETHE
B UHYMEZERBRAFEREE
HEEEE  BURKKERLER
BARAE -

o
al
B
g
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EEE

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

66

The adopted term yield ranged from 4.0%
to 4.5% (31 December 2019: 4.0% to
4.5%) and monthly term rent arranged from
RMB98/sg.m. to RMB167/sg.m. (31 December
2019: RMB97/sg.m. to RMB161/sg.m.) for
capitalisation of the current passing rental
income over the existing lease term and
reversionary yield ranged from 4.5% to
5.0% (31 December 2019: 4.5% to 5.0%)
and reversionary rent from RMB111/sg.m.
to RMB165/sg.m. (31 December 2019:
RMB111/sg.m. to RMB165/sg.m.) for potential
future reversionary rental income. The term
yield, monthly term rent, reversionary field,
reversionary rent are the key parameters in
the income approach — income capitalisation
method. The adopted discount rate of 8.75%
(31 December 2019: 8.75%) and month term
rent of RMB202/sg.m. (31 December 2019:
RMB201/sg.m.) in the valuation is the key
parameter in the income approach — discounted
cash flow analysis.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3
during the period.

12.1REWHE )

REAHBAMNERAS AL
TERNEFRANFHEHREN
T4.0%ZE4.5%(2019F 12 A 31
H:4.0%E45%) R AN TE
FEHRKARBISTEFBFH KA
R#1677L (20195128311
BFEARKAREIITETF K
AEM%ﬁa mEpBEBR%RE
SRS WA FTER B ME R kSR
N F4.5%%25.0%(2019F 12 A
31H : 4.5%%5.0%) REHFHS
NFEEFRARBINNTES
SEHKARBEA1657T (2019412
A31H : ¥ FRKARBI11T
EEFHRKARBE165TT) - FH
Oz - B ERWEERE
FHeBRAE -RABERE
MEEL2H - NMEEFIRAME
WRB.75% (2019412 4311
8.75%) R AMMBEFKARK
2027t (201912 A31H : &F
FARARE2017D) BWAE—8L
REERESTHEELH -

AEMYTEEARBHE=R
Al e
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13.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

13.E5 R HMEWKIE

30 June 31 December
2020
20204
6H30H

2019
20194
12A31H
RMB’000
ARETIT
(Audited)
('i%)

RMB’000
AR® TR
(Unaudited)
(REEER)

Trade receivables B S EW A 23,494 348
Deferred rent receivables FEUCEEE & 5,778 =
Deposit BE& - 400

29,272 748

Trade receivables represent lease receivables.
Lease receivables under rental of office
buildings and shopping centre are generally
required to be settled by tenants within 30 days
upon issuance of demand note.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade
receivables, presented based on the date of
demand note:

B 5 W IR S R E SR -
BrErBEYT OEENEEE
EHIE-RAEEREHE LIR30
HRREFES -

NTREBEEREARZIINE
S MR BRER DT

30 June 31 December
2020
20204
6H30H

2019
20194
12H31H
RMB’000
AREBFT
(Audited)
(EZ)

RMB’000
ARBT T
(Unaudited)
(REEEX)

Within 1 month & AR 7,611 188

More than 1 months but BiE1ERERIEANR
within 3 months 11,284 =
Over 3 months HBiE3EA 4,599 160
23,494 348

As at 30 June 2020, all the trade receivables are
past due as at the reporting date.

H2020%F6 8300 K& HE
HETE B 5 BRI GIELE M -
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14.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 14. B REMEMNTIE

30 June 31 December
2020 2019
20204 20194
6H30H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT  ARKBTET

(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEEX) (&%)
Trade payables B S ENRIB 447 859
Other tax payables HAb IR 8,507 1,800
Rental receipt in advance IS 601 1,883
Receipt on behalf of tenants X &8P Uk (HfaE)
(note) 12,226 12,519
Rental deposit received HEPKINHEEES
from tenants 53,047 57,679
Interest payable RIS 2,203 2,178
Accruals and other payables &5t & i & H b B 7R 4,676 6,934
81,260 82,993
81,707 83,852
Note: Bzt -
The Group collected the turnover of tenants, who operate food AEBREBEERBEDH LKL ERD R
and beverage business in a shopping centre, on behalf of them FREKBPNLERE  WAEASEEARMA
and is obligated to remit to them every half month. FEXZ -
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14.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

The credit period granted by suppliers to the
Group ranges from 30 to 90 days during the
period. The following is an aged analysis of
trade payables presented based on the invoice
date at the end of each reporting period:

14.E5 R EMEMFRIE )

HEFHARNAEEREOEER
HNF30E90H - L TARES
HEHKNBZAHEINES
FERTFRIBHBRE D AT

30 June 31 December
2020
20204
6H30H

2019
20195
12A31H
RMB’000
ARKETTT
(Audited)
(BEZ)

RMB’000

AR®T T
(Unaudited)
(REEEFX)

Within 1 month 1@ AR - 621

More than 1 month but HBiE1EAERIEAR
within 3 months - 21
Over 3 months HBE3{E A 447 217
447 859
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15.SECURED BANK BORROWINGS 15. 5K B ITHER

30 June 31 December
2020 2019
20204 20194F
6H30H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AREBTET

(Unaudited) (Audited)

(REEEZ) (&FEZ)

Secured bank borrowings A EIFIRITIE R 2,061,214 1,901,832
Loan front-end fee EXRRHER (11,800) (14,200)

2,049,414 1,887,632

The maturity of the secured ABIXIIRITERFIER

bank borrowings is as mr

follows:
Within one year 16 A 520 -
More than one year but not BB 1FBRZR2F

exceeding two years 520 =
More than two years but not FRiB241E %54

exceeding five years 2,048,374 1,887,632

2,049,414 1,887,632
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15.SECURED BANK BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

As at 30 June 2020, secured banking
borrowings with a total amount of
RMB2,061,214,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB1,901,832,000) bears interest at a fixed
rate of 2.75% — 4.5% per annum. The secured
term loans will mature by December 2022.

As security for the term loans granted to the
Group, interests over certain subsidiaries of
the Group and investment properties with an
aggregate fair value of RMB5,741,000,000
as at 30 June 2020 (31 December 2019:
RMB5,741,000,000) together with the
assignments of sales proceeds, insurance
proceeds, rental income, revenue and all other
income generated from these properties have
been pledged to the bank.

15. 5K R TR (&)

R2020%E6 A30H » ELEAA
R#2 061,214,0007T (20194512
A318 : AR#¥1,901,832,000
TL)MEEBRITEEREEF
FE2.75%ZE4.5%5T 8 - HiKiF
FHIE RGN 2022F 12 AFIH -

EEMAEERHEHERD
KR AEEETHERAAN
X R MR202066 A30R AR
f BE A AR 5,741,000,000
JL(2019F 128310 + AR
5,741,000,0007T) (IR E W% -
EREEMSHEEE  RBAT
BEE - e BA - KEZRES
YEEENMEEMBAL KR
FIRT o

o
a
B
K
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16.DEFERRED TAX

72

For the purpose of presentation in the
condensed consolidated statement of financial
position, the deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the major
deferred tax (asset) liabilities recognised and
movements thereon during the reporting period:

16 BRI 1E
RREPEE M BERAKREN T
T EEHRBEEERABEBECDER
e UTARSREHHERR
FERLERIB(EE)BBEREE
B -

Withholding
tax on
retained
earnings Provision  Change in
Accelerated to be for  fair value of
tax  distributed impairment  investment
depreciation ~ EFAEM losses  properties
mE - RERAW AE  REMR Total
HEnE ki FEfkfE QAEEED )
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETr AR%Tn ARETn ARETn ARETn
At 1 January 2020 202051418 164,236 9,478 (274) 809,548 982,988
Charge (credit)to profit orloss  EARBATHE
for the period (;FABH) 14,361 5,074 - (1,324) 19,011
At 30 June 2020 2020567308 178,597 15,452 (274) 808,224 1,001,999

The PRC EIT Law requires withholding tax to be
levied on distribution of profits earned by PRC
entities for profits generated after 1 January
2008 at rate of 5% for Hong Kong resident
companies, and at rate of 10% for companies
incorporated in the BVI, which are the beneficial
owners of the dividend received. Deferred tax
is provided in full in respect of the undistributed
earnings as at 30 June 2020.

FRCERBRERETTREES
MESERMERERBE T
EFMAR A ¥ (AKREUR B R
BB A) 200851 A18%
FITEE A 19 73 F #E 17 2 R 5 78 UM
TEH - MEHFBE5%K10% °
R2020F6A30H * iADEE
2 SRR T B -
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17.1SSUED UNITS 17.BRTESEN

During the period, movements of units in issue
are as below:

B BERTESELNESHN
T

Number of
units RMB’000

ARBF T

Units issued for acquisition  FA_-71 A Bigt W BB B
NRIBITESEAM

of subsidiaries on Listing

Date 377,819,549 1,162,025
Units issued for initial REMBBREREE

offering on Listing Date BITEGEN 750,000,000 2,305,934
Units issue cost HE B BITHA = (76,430)
Balance at 31 December 20196128311

2019 (audited) and 30 (#28E#%) K% 2020%F6 A

June 2020 (unaudited) 308 CREEZ) MR 1,127,819,549 3,391,629

Upon the completion of the acquisition of
Frontier Shekou, China Merchants Commercial
REIT issued 377,819,549 units and made cash
payment to Jumbo Pacific Holdings Limited
(“dumbo Pacific”) in exchange for all of the
issued shares of Frontier Shekou on Listing
Date.

On Listing Date, China Merchants Commercial
REIT issued 750,000,000 units at HK$3.42 per
unit, amounting to RMB2,305,934,000.

7 52 B U B Frontier Shekou 14 -

RERBAERETEesR L™
H H} @ Jumbo Pacific Holdings
Limited ([ Jumbo Pacific | ) % 77
377,819,549 A E & B R EH IR
EFR - LA #Frontier ShekouZ
BRI -

RETAE  BERR¥ETE
SEERBREESEMNI42B T
#7750,000,000 I ZE & B © &
HAR#2,305,934,0007T °
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18.NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT

The net asset value per unit is calculated
by dividing the net assets attributable
to unitholders as at 30 June 2020 of
RMB3,750,990,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB3,787,301,000) by the number of
units in issue of 1,127,819,549 units as
at 30 June 2020 (31 December 2019:
RMB1,127,819,549).

19.NET CURRENT ASSETS

At 30 June 2020, the Group’s net current
assets, calculated as current assets less current
liabilities, amounted to RMB192,266,000 (31
December 2019: RMB48,630,000).

20.TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

At 30 June 2020, the Group’s total
assets less current liabilities amounted to
RMB6,801,883,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB6,657,921,000).

21.CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Capital expenditure in respect B ET 4718 14 < 7 65 88

of the improvement works A MIEHREA
of investment properties FHRBRAREYE
contracted for but not HEIRNERFALZ

provided in the condensed
consolidated financial
statements

18.

19.

20.

21.

BESENVNEEEE
BESCEMNNEEFAENE
M 202066 A30 0 &£ ¢ ¥ fiI
BEABLEEFEARE
3,750,990,000 7t (2019 F 12 A
318 : AR#¥3,787,301,0007T)
B LA 2020466 430 A B 3 1THY
1,127,819,549 & (2019 F 12 A
31H :1,127,819,5491@ ) £ & &
AT & -

REBEEFE
20206 A30H » AEBEHR
HEEFEERDEERRD
BETE) A ARE192,266,000
L (2019F 12 A31H : ARM
48,630,0007T) °

EERERRBDRE

MR2020F6 A30H » AEEH
BEBERTBDABAARY
6,801,883,0007T (20194 12 A 31
H : AR#6,657,921,0007T) °

BAERE

30 June 31 December
2020
20204
6H30H

2019
20194
12H31H
RMB’000
AREFTT
(Audited)
(& 2=%)

RMB’000
ARET T
(Unaudited)
(REEZ)

5,112 8,331
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22.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 2. BAEALRBEBERS
TRANSACTIONS

During the period, the Group entered into the HA - R (B B sE A £ % R
following transactions with connected and FETTINRS

related parties:

Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000
RE AT BAE S BT M ARBTIT
Rental income A
Shekou TV (“Shekou TV”) WOERE
(MEnEsRAE]) (@) 54
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. BERITIROER QA
(“CM Bank”) ([BERIT]) (@) 2,426
China Merchants Energy Shipping 187 B 88 R & & % 1)
Co., Ltd. (“CM Energy’) ARRAT]
([BEREER ] (@) 3,141

China Merchants Shekou Industrial 187 B2 0 T %[ 12 &
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd (‘CMSK”) R AR A&

(B ) (@) 2,415

Sinotrans Shipping Limited RINEYI R AR AT

(“Sinotrans Shipping”) (formerly ([ 4NEWFR])

known as “China Merchants (RiFE [FBERYR

Logistics Holding Co., Ltd.”) EEARAF]) (a) 3,515
China Merchants Real Estate BB EEER QA

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ([BEEwE])

(“CM Real Estate”) (@) 15,609
China Merchants Life Insurance HBE BT MASZREBAD

Company Limited BRAR(BERZH

(“CM Life Insurance”) AERE]) (@) 776
China Merchants Commercial FIBEEERE

Property Investment (Shenzhen) BRATRRYBEE

Co., Ltd. (“CMCP”) BmEl) (@) 5,850
China Merchants International BEBERER{E BT

information Technology Co., Ltd. BRAR ([ BERERE

(“CM Information Technology”) B2 17]) (a) % (c) 979
China Merchants Investment BEREEERER QA

Development Co., Ltd. ([BERRERRE]

(“CM Investment (BTl NRY T HEER

Development”) (formerly known BHONEEEERR

as China Merchants Shekou NCRD)

Asset Management Co., Ltd.) (a)f(c) 3,696
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mEMBRRNE

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

22.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 22.BEALTRBEEBERS (#)

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Name of Connected/Related Party

BEALRAE T A

Notes
HitsF

RMB’000
ARETT

Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied Gas
Shipping Co., Ltd

RINEE BRI RMT
ARAB(MRYIZER

(“Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied”) &1t ]) (a)%(c) 245
Shenzhen Investment Promotion AYBEMEER
Real Estate Management Co., Ltd AR A& ([EIYIEBE])
(“SZ Investment Promotion”) (a) 15
38,721
Car park income EEZIGA
CM Information Technology BB BEER{E BRI @)Xk 18
CM Investment Development BrEBEREERE @k (c) 55
CMCP PERE (@) 18
Sinotrans Shipping RONBYR (a) 42
133
Interest income FILEHLA
CM Bank R iRTT (@) 4,441
Building management fee income ~— EFEIEEIA
CMSK B0 (@) 82
CM Information Technology HEBEER{E BT @)k (c) 150
cMcP REHE (@) 4rs
CM Investment Development BEREEER @X(c) 251
CM Real Estate REEbE (@) 1,028
Shekou TV wAEHRE (a) 10
CM Bank BERT (@) 239
Sinotrans Shipping FAONEYITR (a) 671
CM Energy B REeR (a) 646
Shenzhen Huanan Liquefied FIIER R (a)%(c) 67
3,617
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERME

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

22.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

22.BEALTRBEEBERS (#)

Name of Connected/Related Party Notes RMB’000
BEALRAE T A s ARETFT
Other income A A
CMCP BEmE (@) 3
CM Real Estate BEEE (a) 179
CM Bank HBRERTT (@) 54
Sinotrans Shipping FRANEYD (a) 1
CM Energy B REER (@) 1
238
Aadvising and promotion expenses & & REEH S
China Merchant Xun Long AYIRE M E R A A
(Shenzhen) Shipping Co. Ltd ([FRYIREE )
(“China Merchant Xun Long”) (@)X (c) 99
Shekou News (“Shekou News”) i 058 8 7R
([EEOEEIR]) (a)%(c) 238
337
Manager’s fee EHEANEH
The Manager BB A (a) 9,103
Trustee’s remuneration RATAF B
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited ?‘fff = (BER)EAR
AT (b) 694
Principal valuer’s fee AL EET B
Cushman & Wakefield Limited HIERITER LA (b) 91
Property management expense YREEE
SZ Investment Promotion FIIRE (@) 21,656
Operations manager’s fee EEEEANEF
China Merchants Shekou Enterprise ?Eﬁk[lm%ﬂi( 2311D)
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd AR A (a) 7,394
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRNE

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

22.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 22.BEALTRBEEBERS (#)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Balances with connected and related parties fHEgE AL MBS SN
are as follows: g

—

As at As at

30 June 31 December

2020 2019

20204 20194

6H30H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARETTT

Notes @ (Unaudited) (Audited)

HtaE (REER) (EEZ)

Amount due from JEW AT A £ 50E

Trade nature E5HHE

CM Real Estate HE R E (a) % (d) 6,023 1,073

CMCP BEEE (a)%(d) 5,090 602
SZ Investment IR

Promotion (@)% (d) 6,453 4,531
Sinotrans Shipping FRINEYIR (@)% (d) 683 =
CM Investment BaRitEsR (a)* (c)

Development K (d) 1,073 =
CMSK R n (a)%(d) 2,126 -
CM Bank REiRT (a) % (d) 31 -

21,479 6,206
Non-trade nature FEZHE
Eureka i (a) (1) 1,926 S
23,405 6,206
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

REMBRERME

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes
MtaE

22.BEALTRBEEBERS (#)

As at
30 June
2020
20204
6H30H

As at

31 December
2019

20194
12H31H
RMB’000
ARETFT
(Audited)
(EZ)

RMB’000
AR¥T T
((SLETIT[1=Te )]
(REBEZ)

Amount due to JEITLA A +30E
Trade nature (note f) B ZME (ff:7f)
CM Information BERBEEER (@~ (c)

Technology i % (e) 590 590
CMG B REE (a)%(e) 518 518
CM Investment BERKRERE @~ )%

Development (e 345 345
China Merchants BEOhEERE

Shekou Enterprise CRINDBRAF]

Management

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (a)%(e) 8,567 136
CM Energy R ReelR (a) % (e) 1,210 1,211
Sinotrans Shipping FONEYIR (a) % (e) 1,366 1,367
CM Life Insurance BERCMAS

R (a) % (e) 404 404
CM Bank HEiRTT (@)% (e) 1,019 1,019
Shenzhen Huanan FYNERRIE

Liquefied (a)f(e) 127 =
China Merchant Xun FIIRE (@ (c)

Long K(e) 99 =
Shekou News e M8 8 3R @ (c)

K (e) 238 -
Shekou TV wOERE @k 30 30
CMCP BaEE (@)% (e) 8 i
SZ Investment IR

Promotion 6 RS
The Manager BIEA (@) k(e) 10,464 =

24,991 6,793
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRNE

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H L7518 A

22.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 22.BEALTRBEEBERS (#)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

As at As at
30 June 31 December
2020 2019
20204 20194
6H30H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ETx | ARETRT
Notes (Unaudited) (Audited)
M et (REER) (&F=Z)
Non-trade nature FESHE
China Merchants Land  EE B E it GEII)

(Shenzhen) Limited BHRAA (@) (1) 363 352
Jumbo Pacific Jumbo Pacific (@) (f 637,000 1,229,684
Eureka i (@)% (f) - 40,370

637,363 1,270,406
662,354 1,277,199
Bank balance RITHEER
CM Bank REiR1T (a) 919,177 1,159,177
Deposits placed with Gt BREF Y2

the Group for the RAEBFHA

lease of the Group’s b

properties
CM Information HEREEREE

Technology g (a)%(c) 590 590
CMG B REE (a) 518 518
CM Investment HEBIREER

Development (a)k(c) 345 345
CM Energy R BELIR (a) 1,210 1,211
Sinotrans Shipping FONEYIR (a) 1,366 1,367
CM Life Insurance HERCMAS

R (a) 404 404

CM Bank BERTT (@) 1,019 1,019

Shekou TV BOERE (@) 30 30
Shenzhen Huanan FYERmRL (a) -~ (c)

Liquefied K (e) 127 =

5,609 5,484
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRERME

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 | #Z202046 A30H |E7< 18 A

22.CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

These companies are the subsidiaries directly or indirectly
held by CMG, a significant unitholder of China Merchants
Commercial REIT.

These are connected party transactions as defined in the
REIT Code.

The English name is for identification only.

The Group generally requests that amounts are settled
within 30 days after issuance of demand note for its
provision of rental and management services to its related
parties. The demand note is issued on the first working day
of each month. The aging of the amounts are due within 6
month based on the date of invoice.

The amounts due to related companies are aged within 6
month based on date of invoice.

The Group’s non-trade amounts due from/to related
companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

2. BAEALTRBAEBRS &)

Mk -

(@)

ZELFRABREREE(BARAXE
RESZ - RFIBESEAKEANE
EYREBENHBAR -

REFMEREEAES T ZEX
HRBEALRS -

HXAREHRSE -

REB—RBREHHRIEHAERE
BIRISH)E R E B HEB0H NEIBER
B BRERGEAE—MEI(ERH
o BRERER BRI IRE N E BT
NEAEEIE -

FERT AR R R IR BRIk AR A B
REAR -

AEEEY BB ARNIER HF0R
REERR  RERAREREE -
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PERFORMANCE TABLE
RAR

The period from
1 January 2020 to

30 June 2020 The period from
(unaudited) 10 December 2019 to
H202051818% | 81 December 2019
20206300 E2019F12310H%
LEHARS 2019F 124318
(REER) 215
Net assets attributable to BEoBRAARILEE

Unitholders (RMB million) FEAREEET) 3,751 3,787
Net assets per unit attributable £ 4 Bfri55 AL

to Unitholders BESBNEEFE

(RMB) (AE#TT) 3.33 3.36

(Equivalent to HKS) (Tﬁ%‘}%fu) 3.65 3.75
Highest traded unit price (HK$) RREEGETL) 3.36 3.42
Highest premium of the traded unit Xi{“?l%ﬁi g eE

price to the net asset value per FEZE=REME)

unit (Note i) N/A 1@ N/A RNEF
Lowest traded unit price (HK$) REKZEE(ET) 2,03 3.07
Highest discount of the traded RREERGELBN

unit price to the net asset value ~ BEFEZ H2ifE

per unit 44.4% 18.2%
Market capitalisation (Note ii) mE(H i)

(HKS million) (BEAT) 3,124 3,756
Units issued BRIESEN 1,127,819,549 1,127,819,549
Annualised Provisional DPU ﬁt EEESBA

yield (Note i) kR 2 (i aii) 5.9% 6.1%

Notes: Bzt -

The highest traded unit price is lower than the net asset value
per unit attributable to unitholders as at 31 December 2019 and
30 June 2020 respectively. Accordingly, premium of the traded
unit price to the net asset value per unit has not been recorded.

i.  Market capitalization as at December 2019 is calculated based
on the closing unit price of HK$3.33 times the unit issued as at
31 December 2019.

Market capitalization as at 30 June 2020 is calculated based on
the closing unit price of HK$2.77 times the unit issued as at 30
June 2020.

ii. The annualized net yield per unit of the period from 10
December 2019 to 31 December 2019 is calculated based on
the total distributable income for the period of 10 December
2019 to 31 December 2019 and the closing unit price HK$3.33
as at 31 December 2019.

The annualized net yield per unit of Reporting Period is
calculated based on the total distributable income for the period
of 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2020 and the closing unit price
HK$2.77 as at 30 June 2020.
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HREREESFER2019F12 4318 &
202096 AB0HE R B HAABIETES
BRIz BEFE - Bt - WESEGRRER
BEES B EEFEIGE -

72019512 A31 HM M EK 2019912 731
BEES BN MES.IETRUABEITE
SBAFHE -

7202046 A 30 H M T E1£20204F6 A30H
HESBAIRTE277ETRUDSEITES
BAETE -

201912 108 £20194F12 A31 H HifA
B FLTES ELFR SR THER2019F
12 8108 2019412 A31 A HIfE Al £ 2 Ik
W AN #EEE 2019612 A31H 2 £ & Bl
M{B3.388 T HE -

RBEBEOFEREEBEMFRERTIE
720204 1 A 18 % 202046 A30F #ifH A
AR AR 20206 B30B 2 H & B
R T (B2. 778 TETE -
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

THE MANAGER

China Merchants Land Asset Management Co.,
Limited

Rm 2603-06, 26/F.

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 3976 5300

BOARD OF DIRECTOR OF THE MANAGER
Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr Huang Junlong

Executive Director
Mr Guo Jin

Non-executive Director

Mr Yu Zhiliang
Ms Liu Ning

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr Lin Hua
Mr Lin Chen
Ms Lau Sze Wan, Serena

RESPONSIBLE OFFICERS OF THE
MANAGER

Mr Guo Jin
Mr Choo Chong Yao, Patrick
Mr Zhong Ning

COMPANY SECRETARY OF THE
MANAGER

Victon Secretarial Services Limited

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

INTERNAL AUDITOR
Ms Chen Yan
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RIYER

TRUSTEE

DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited

PRINCIPAL VALUER
Cushman & Wakefield Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS
Baker & McKenzie

UNIT REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
1503

WEBSITE

www.cmcreit.com
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